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a diversified portfolio strategically 
focused across four key pillars for 

growth, stability and value.

designed for investors seeking 
higher exposure to saskatchewan 
resource companies operating in 

our energy-rich province.

a portfolio that provides all of the 
upside growth from investments 

in innovation companies plus  
loss protection.
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Up to 80% loss protection provided to 
a maximum of $3.3 million.1

1 See Prospectus under “Investment Objectives” for more important information.



Message to 
shareholders

To our valued shareholders:

This past fiscal year, Saskatchewan’s economy continued to be 
challenged due to prolonged low oil and commodity prices in a 
resource reliant economy. Following two years of negative gross 
domestic product (GDP) growth in Saskatchewan, economic 
forecasts predicted modest but positive GDP growth in 2017.1  
However, as the year ends with potash and uranium prices 
continuing to decline, unemployment rates not improving from 
6.3%1 and oil prices still not at sufficient levels 
required to jump start the recovery of this 
sector, this may be optimistic. At fiscal  
year-end 2017, the price of West Texas 
Intermediate (WTI) oil was still below  
US $50.00, the same price level during this 
period in 2015 and 2016. 

For the past number of years, Golden 
Opportunities Fund has actively managed 
against the risk of this prolonged recovery 
through execution of a deliberate strategy.  
That strategy included enhancing liquidity, 
progressively realigning the Diversified Class 
A-share portfolio with an increased weighting 
in our management buyout portfolio of 
companies that provide a long history of 
proven earnings, as well as actively engaging 
portfolio companies on strategies to ensure 
they are innovative through this down cycle 
to maintain earnings. These strategic priorities 
have ensured your Fund performed well 
during this down cycle and remains  
well-positioned as the economy strengthens. 

Saskatchewan’s economic environment translated into an extremely 
challenging Provincial budget in March of 2017 which impacted all 
areas of Government and programs.  The Labour-sponsored Venture 
Capital Program was no exception to the fiscal tightening with the 
announcement of a change in the Provincial tax credit, from 20%  
to 17.5%, as well as a reduced annual fundraising allocation of  
$35 million both commencing in the 2018 tax filing period.  
There will be no changes in the 2017 tax filing period.  Golden 
Opportunities recognizes that all programs need to contribute to 
the fiscal challenges facing the Province and appreciates that this 
was a one-time adjustment by the Government to the Program.  
The Federal Government continues to focus on its innovation 
agenda and has remained committed to the Federal tax credit of 
15% for investments in Retail Venture Capital (RVC) Funds despite 
being amid a small business tax reform before the House of 
Commons this fiscal period. 

Despite the challenges of the economy and Government 
spending on programs, Golden Opportunities continued its long 
history of investor attraction and overall growth in the reporting 
period.  Sales from investors reached over $30 million, all the 
Fund’s share classes experienced an increase in asset value and 
Golden Opportunities’ overall assets grew by 4.5% to $311 million.  
The liquidity of the Fund, a strategic priority, also increased 
with cash, financial instruments and publicly held shares 
growing from $71 million in aggregate to $98 million, 
a 38% increase, positioning the Fund for opportunistic 
opportunities in these unique times.  These key performance 
metrics coupled with an increase in the year-over-year unit value 
of all share classes except the Resource Class R-share which was 
relatively flat, confirms the fundamental strength and stability 
of the Fund’s portfolio in a protracted economic recovery.  All 

maturing units that reach the eight-year 
hold period this RRSP season also receive 
the benefit of another 35% tax credit. 

In this fiscal period, Golden Opportunities 
once again took an innovative lead role 
in the industry and recognized both 
shareholder interest and the changing 
regulatory environment of our dealer 
network.  This resulted in the Fund 
becoming the first no-load RVC Fund 
in Canada which was supported by 
shareholder approval in December 
2016. The Fund eliminated the deferred 
sales charge (early redemption fee) on all 
share classes which historically applied 
to shareholders wishing to redeem units 
prior to the maturity of the eight-year 
hold period. Upon early redemption, the 
claw back of the Federal and Provincial 
tax credits per Government legislation 
continues to exist. 

golden 
opportunities’ 
overall assets 

grew by 4.5% to

$311million.

2016 2017

$27M INCREASE 
IN LIQUIDITY

$71M $98M

1 RBC Economics Provincial Outlook, September 2017
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Despite the challenging environment, the Fund’s largest 
share class, the Diversified Class A-share, posted positive 
results with overall assets increasing by 2.4% to $268 million 
and the unit value posting a 5.65% return (10.45% for the 
Class A-F) as at August 31, 2017 according to Globefund. 

Liquidity, a strategic priority for the Fund, showed a 38% 
increase in cash, short-term financial instruments and 
publicly held investments. Over the past number of years 
and again in fiscal 2017, the Fund continued to focus on 
the overarching strategy of the Diversified Class A-share 
portfolio which is designed to mitigate the prolonged 
economic uncertainty and low oil and commodity prices.

DIVERSIFIED CLASS A-ShARE

Top 5 hoLDINgS
Golden Opportunities’ top 5 holdings in the Diversified Class A-share 
represent 50% of the venture portfolio and confirm alignment with 
the strategic priorities of the share class and the Fund’s overall goal 
of a strong portfolio foundation. 

1. CanniMed Therapeutics Inc.
Mature Innovation in  
Emerging Healthcare Sector  

In 2001, Golden Opportunities was the 
first institutional investor in Prairie Plant Systems Inc. On December 29, 
2016, the company completed its initial public offering (IPO) under the 
name CanniMed Therapeutics Inc. (CMED) on the Toronto Stock Exchange 
(TSX) raising $69 million in an oversubscribed offering. Today, Golden 
Opportunities is the largest shareholder controlling 3.5 million shares in 
the Diversified Class A-share. The IPO of this mature innovation company 
in the Fund’s portfolio comes at a time when there is a tremendous 
amount of investor interest on a national and global level in both 
medicinal marijuana, of which CMED is considered an industry leader, 
and the upcoming legalization of recreational marijuana by the Federal 
Government in July of 2018. 

CMED reported active patients of 18,512 on July 31, 2017, a growth rate 
of 143% from 7,613 one year ago.  All of this has led various investment 
banking firms to begin investment coverage of the company and 
set a range of future target prices for this portfolio company that are 
favorable to the company and subsequently Golden Opportunities’ 
shareholders given the Fund’s large ownership position.

Diversified Class A-share 
Strategies Include:

Increasing the portfolio weighting 
in our management buyout pillar 

in companies with a history of 
long-term earnings to ensure a solid 

portfolio foundation.

reducing the portfolio weighting 
in the energy sector due to the 

prolonged recovery period in the 
price of oil.

Capitalizing on emerging trends in 
the healthcare sector, leveraging 
our real estate-backed long-term 

care investments. 

actively supporting the mature 
innovation portfolio focused on 

guiding these companies toward a 
successful exit for value creation and 

increased liquidity to the Fund. 

Since going public, Golden Opportunities’ largest portfolio 
holding, representing over 10% of the Diversified Class 
A-share’s overall asset value, announced a series of major
developments which include:

•   Industry-first collaboration with CTT Pharmaceutical Holdings Inc. 
to complete a Canadian exclusive agreement for cannabis Orally 
Dissolvable Thin Film (ODF) Wafer

•   Exclusive pharmacy distribution agreement for medical cannabis 
with PharmaChoice

•   Two export permits from Health Canada and initial purchase orders 
for distribution of medicinal marijuana to Australia and the Cayman 
Islands

•   Expansion of its cannabis oils facility given it is the company’s 
greatest growth driver

•   International supply partnerships to Africa 

•   Research partnership on cannabis-based topical product with 
Avaria Health & Beauty Corp.

•   Health Canada’s data highlights a 20% increase of registered 
patients for the June 2017 quarter compared to CMED’s patient 
increase of 32% for the same period

•   Received a license from Health Canada to produce medical 
cannabis capsules
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2. Warman home Centre Lp
Management Buyout 

Supporting the strategic priority to 
increase the weighting in companies 
with a history of long-term earnings. 

The well-known brand of Warman Home Centre LP is made up 
of five divisions serving builders, the farm industry, commercial 
and private individuals in Saskatchewan since 1984. The company 
continues its superior reputation for customer service. Since 
the Fund’s investment, employee ownership has grown by 
143% contributing to the company’s success and to the Fund 
subsequently recouping all its original investment in distributions 
in a quick 3.5 years.  The overall size and diversity of the company’s 
product offerings enable it to continue to perform well in periods of 
high and low construction cycles. Although new construction took 
a breather in 2016 to allow absorption of housing supply, 2018 is 
projected to see an increase in construction activity.

4. Dyna holdings Lp
Management Buyout 

Supporting the strategic priority to increase 
the weighting in companies with a history 
of long-term earnings. 

Dyna Holdings LP has four distinct divisions 
diversified within itself to mitigate the impact 
of prolonged low commodity prices on 
any one division. Individual divisions range from industrial machine 
fabrication in facilities located in Saskatoon and Regina, where the 
company was awarded the preferred supplier status by The Mosaic 
Company in 2017, to delivery of filtration systems out of Edmonton and 
crane operations based in Regina. 

Custom engineered bearings, the specialty of Tackpoint Ltd., led all 
division revenues in fiscal 2017. In the fiscal period, Tackpoint Ltd. 
acquired one of its key suppliers, ProtoTech Services Ltd. This acquisition 
included a 28,000 square foot state-of-the-art manufacturing facility 
that will facilitate Tackpoint Ltd.’s diversification into industrial, 
technology and robotics sectors.  Despite certain company divisions 
that are impacted by commodity prices, this management buyout 
increased its revenue and earnings results year-over-year on a 
consolidated basis. 

5. h.J.R. Asphalt Lp
Management Buyout  

Supporting the strategic priority to increase the weighting in 
companies with a history of long-term earnings.

Golden Opportunities’ buyout of one of Saskatchewan’s largest 
highway asphalt paving companies was driven by an increase 
in infrastructure spending by both the Federal and Provincial 
Governments and a highway and road infrastructure in Saskatchewan 
that withstands challenging climate changes through the seasons. 
In fiscal 2017, H.J.R. Asphalt LP laid approximately 400,000 metric 
tonnes of hot mix asphalt, similar in volume to the previous year 
despite a late tender season from the Ministry of Highways impacting 
the number of work days before freeze-up. Improved processes by 
the Government have enabled Fall tenders to commence and early 
indications show a doubling of the amount of asphalt being placed 
on Saskatchewan highways in the 2018 paving season. 

The Diversified Class A-share’s top 5 holdings is indicative of the portfolio 
strategy over the past number of years. This includes the facilitation of 
the exit of the Fund’s mature innovation portfolio, the expansion of the 
strategic footprint of its healthcare portfolio through the build-out of 
long-term care homes, and the increased weighting in management 
buyouts which now comprises over 40% of the venture portfolio. In the 
fiscal period, the management buyout of Fort Garry Brewing Company, 
one of the largest craft brewing companies in Manitoba, using Manitoba 
eligible capital, aligned with the execution of this strategic priority. The 
solid foundation and stability of the share class is further supported with 
increased liquidity to ensure Golden Opportunities is well-positioned to 
manage through the prolonged economic recovery.

3. golden health Care Inc.
Emerging Healthcare Sector through  
Real Estate-backed Long-term Care  

Healthcare continues to be a key pillar 
of the Fund with the construction and 
ownership of eight care homes with over 
480 suites providing level 1-4 care  
for our elderly across the Province.  The newest home located in 
Warman, Saskatchewan, Diamond House, is the largest home and 
now accepting residents. This pillar continues to be a focus for the 
Fund as opportunities emerge from the healthcare sector due to fiscal 
challenges by all Governments, rising costs and an aging population 
coupled with long wait lists in various Golden Health Care Inc. homes.

In the fiscal period, Golden Health Care Inc. entered into a strategic 
partnership with The Western Investment Company of Canada 
Limited (Western), a publicly traded company, which will form the 
basis to work together in the coming years to develop a planning 
framework for future growth.
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t“  Western was founded with a specific goal to 

partner with exceptional management teams and 
help them grow. seniors care is an area we have 
expertise amongst our board and the founding 
shareholder group. golden health Care is the largest 
saskatchewan-based seniors care organization, and 
we are keen to support the vision of golden health 
Care’s Ceo, heather haupstein for future expansion.”

-  scott tannas, Ceo
the Western Investment 
Company of Canada limited
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The Innovation Class i-share by name and design has 
less exposure to low commodity prices and continues 
to be an attractive share class to investors recognizing 
the importance of innovation in our economy and the 
innovation agenda put forward by both the Federal and 
Provincial Governments.  The share class posted the largest 
asset growth of all Golden Opportunities’ share class 
options of 21% to $34.6 million and had strong  
year-over-year performance of 5.75% (11.28% for the  
Class i-share) as at August 31, 2017 according to Globefund. 
The strong performance of the Innovation Class i-share 
resulted in a four out of five-star rating by Globefund as at 
September 30, 2017.   Liquidity measured as cash,  
short-term instruments and publicly held investments also 
grew with a 40% increase over the same period last year, 
putting the Innovation Class i-share in a very solid position 
to capture new opportunities.

each of the top 3 company holdings have 
created innovative products in diverse 
sectors ranging from pharmaceuticals 
and engineered products, to software 
used in the semiconductor space backed 
by strong balance sheets. Coupled with 
overall strong liquidity in the share class 
and a partnership with Western economic 
diversification Canada, that provides loan 
loss coverage of up to 80% of potential 
losses in any one portfolio company to a 
maximum aggregate of $3.3 million,  
the Innovation Class i-share is  
well-positioned.

 AwArded

by Globefund
as at september 30, 2017  

for the Class i-share.
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INNoVATIoN CLASS I-ShARE

Top 3 hoLDINgS
The Innovation Class i-share’s top 3 holdings posted important 
milestones in the fiscal period and represent 72% of its venture portfolio.

1. CanniMed Therapeutics Inc.
Mature Innovation Company 
with Pharmaceutical 
Technologies

CanniMed Therapeutics Inc.’s (CMED’s) successful, oversold IPO on the TSX 
in the fiscal period has catapulted this Saskatoon-based company to the 
national stage. This medicinal marijuana company has achieved numerous 
milestones throughout the period that have garnered investment industry 
coverage by firms such as AltaCorp Capital Inc., Clarus Securities Inc., 
Cormark Securities Inc., Echelon Partners, Haywood Securities Inc. and 
Mackie Research Capital Corporation. With the Innovation Class i-share 
controlling 493,853 shares of CMED, we are optimistic of its contribution to 
liquidity and value creation for the share class. 

2. Dyna holdings Lp
Management Buyout with Product  
Design Technologies 

This management buyout with diverse operating 
divisions has a first-class engineering team in 
Tackpoint Ltd. designing custom bearings that 
save costs for international offshore drilling 
companies, while its DynaBolter engineered at 
DynaIndustrial Inc. for underground mine shafts, 
is designed to save lives and improve safety for 
mining companies. 

3. Solido Design Automation Inc.
Mature Innovation Company with  
Software Technology 

In this fiscal period, Solido Design Automation Inc. 
launched its new Machine Learning Characterization Suite and  
ML Labs, a specialized division designed to solve complex problems 
for its clients in the semiconductor space using its patented machine 
learning technology. The Fund’s strategic priority is to continue 

to facilitate an exit for this mature innovation 
company while it executes on its growth plan.

Solido Design Automation Inc. makes software 
used to design the chips in devices we use every 
day, including smartphones, tablets, laptops, PC’S 
and cars. Solido has experienced revenue growth 
of 50% - 70% per year for more than five years.
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The Resource Class R-share has a 100% weighting in oil and 
gas by design and its performance has reflected the price of 
West Texas Intermediate (WTI) oil which remained below US 
$50.00 at fiscal year-end for the past three years.  Since the 
launch of the Resource Class R-share, in December 2012, 
to this reporting period year-end the price of oil is down 
48% from WTI US $90.14 to US $47.25.  In comparison, the 
unit value has performed comparatively better, down only 
15.2% in the same period and in the last year has been 
relatively flat at -1.98% (2.06% for the Class R-F) as at August 
31, 2017 according to Globefund. This year-over-year stable 
performance has outperformed the S&P/TSX Capped 
Energy Index Price Return of -12.95% and S&P/TSX Equal 
Weight Oil & Gas Index Price Return of -14.98%.  

The Resource Class R-share’s increase in assets year-over-year 
of 12% and flat performance is due to strong drilling activity 
by the portfolio companies despite low oil prices. Other 
companies held by the resource portfolio such as Chronos 
Resources Ltd., Forge Oil & Gas Ltd., and Astra Oil Corp., each 
had strong drilling programs that contributed to 50% - 200% 
production growth in each company in the period.

Summary 

Golden Opportunities Fund has the continued support of both the Federal and Provincial Governments, despite their fiscal challenges, due to 
the impact the Fund has made on the communities into which we invest, the jobs that we support and the innovation we drive forward.  Since 
the Fund was founded in 1999, Golden Opportunities’ commitment to innovation has always been a differentiator for the Fund which is aligned 
with the priorities of the Governments as we diversify from a resourced-based economy.  We appreciate the support of our valued shareholders 
and advisor network and will continue our commitment to transparency and communication of our strategic priorities. The Fund will maintain 
strong liquidity and continue to increase our management buyout portfolio so we can weather prolonged economic recovery. We will 
continue to be a leader in the emerging business of healthcare for our elderly and the development of the medical marijuana market.  We have 
accomplished much and are thankful for the support of you, our shareholders, and for enabling Golden Opportunities to be an instrumental 
part of the economic fabric of our Province.   

Sincere regards,

Hon. William McKnight, S.O.M., 
Privy Council  
Chairman  
Saskatoon

Brian L. Barber 
Vice Chairman 
Regina

Grant J. Kook, C.Dir., S.O.M. 
President & CEO

The Resource Class R-share’s top 
holding, Villanova 4 Oil Corp., 
represents 31% of its venture 
portfolio and drilled 14.2 new 
wells in 2017 achieving a 90% 
success rate which more than 
doubled funds generated by 
operations for the company.
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ANNUAL MANAGEMENT REPORT OF 
FUND PERFORMANCE
This annual management report of fund performance contains financial highlights but does not contain the complete annual financial 
statements of Golden Opportunities Fund Inc. (the “Fund” or “Golden”).  You can get a copy of the annual financial statements at your request, 
at no cost, by calling 1-866-261-5686, by writing to us at Suite 830, 410 – 22nd Street East Saskatoon, SK, S7K 5T6 or by visiting our website at 
www.goldenopportunities.ca or SEDAR at www.sedar.com.  

Securityholders may also contact us at one of these methods to request a copy of the Fund’s proxy voting policies and procedures, proxy 
voting disclosure record, or quarterly portfolio disclosure.

Unless otherwise specified, all references to “net assets” or “net assets per share” in this report are references to net assets attributable to 
holders of redeemable shares determined in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as presented in the 
financial statements of the Fund.  All references to “net asset value” or “net asset value per share” in this report are references to net asset value 
determined for purposes of purchase and redemption of Class A shares, Class A-F shares, Class I shares, Class I-F shares, Class R shares, and Class 
R-F shares.  An explanation of the differences can be found in Note 8 to the annual financial statements. 

For the purpose of this report, the “Class A Fund” refers to the Class A shares and Class A-F shares, collectively; the “Class I Fund” refers to the 
Class I shares and the Class I-F shares, collectively; and the “Class R Fund” refers to the Class R shares and the Class R-F shares, collectively.  The 
Class A-F Shares, Class I-F Shares and Class R-F Shares are collectively referred to as the “F Series”.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION OF FUND PERFORMANCE

Investment Objective and Strategies
The investment objective of Golden is to invest its eligible capital in small and medium-sized Saskatchewan and Manitoba eligible businesses 
with the goal of maximizing shareholder returns through the long-term appreciation of Golden’s net asset value.  Golden invests its share 
capital in companies that meet the investment criteria as defined in The Labour-sponsored Venture Capital Corporations Act (Saskatchewan) (the 
“Saskatchewan Act”) and related regulations and The Labour-Sponsored Venture Capital Corporations Act (Manitoba) (the “Manitoba Act”) and 
related regulations.  

Golden issues two share classes in both Saskatchewan and Manitoba, a diversified share class, the Class A and Class A-F, and an innovation share 
class, the Class I and Class I-F, and issues a resource share class in Saskatchewan only, the Class R and Class R-F. For the Class A Fund, Golden 
intends to provide diversification for its shareholders by investing in a wide range of industry sectors in both Saskatchewan and Manitoba. 
Golden further seeks to diversify its investments according to stage of development and will invest in businesses that are in the start-up, growth, 
and mature stages of the business development cycle. The Class I Fund invests in companies in the innovation sector of the Saskatchewan 
and Manitoba economies. These sectors include, but are not limited to, information and communication technology, life sciences, industrial 
biotechnology, clean technology, value-added agriculture, and advanced manufacturing. The Class R Fund will invest in companies in the 
energy, mining and/or related resource services sectors of the Saskatchewan economy. For all shares, Golden generally makes investments with 
the expectation that the holding period will be five to eight years.  

Golden’s manager, Westcap Mgt. Ltd. (the “Fund Manager”), performs a fundamental analysis of each investment opportunity including, but not 
limited to, an analysis of: 

•	 	the	experience	of	management	personnel,

•	 the	industry	and	the	competitive	position	of	the	company	within	its	market,

•	 the	past	performance	and	business	plan	of	the	company,

•	 the	financial	statements,	projections	and	forecasts	of	the	company,

•	 the	expected	return	on	investment,

•	 exit	strategies,	

•	 and	the	risks	of	the	company.

The particular form of Golden’s investments is selected and negotiated after taking into account the investment objectives and criteria of 
Golden.  Golden has diversified its investment portfolio in all share classes through the use of instruments such as common shares, preferred 
shares, convertible preferred shares, partnership units, debentures, convertible debentures, term loans, participating loans, warrants, and options.  
When possible, where Golden makes an investment by way of a debt instrument, Golden will secure its investment by a charge over the 
business’ assets.  This charge may be subordinated to other lenders’ security.  Golden takes the security with the goal of limiting the downside 
risk of the investment. 
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Risks 
(in thousands of dollars)

The risks of investing in Golden remain as discussed in Golden’s prospectus dated December 19, 2016.  The shares of Golden are highly 
speculative in nature and are suitable only for investors able to make a long-term investment.  The investments made by Golden involve a longer 
commitment than what is typical for other types of investments made by mutual funds.  Many such investments require between five to eight 
years in order to mature and generate the returns expected by Golden.  

There may be changes introduced to the Income Tax Act (Canada), the Saskatchewan Act, or the Manitoba Act that may be unfavourable to 
Golden’s ability to attract further investment.  In addition, the legislation in Saskatchewan requires labour-sponsored venture capital corporations 
to invest a prescribed percentage of its annual net capital (being annual capital raised less annual capital required to satisfy redemption 
obligations) in eligible innovation activities.  Eligible innovation activities include: (i) activities carried out by an eligible business whose principal 
business is directly related to one or more of the following sectors: clean or environmental technology, health and life sciences, crop and animal 
sciences, industrial biotechnology or information and communication technology; or (ii) activities carried out by an eligible business that 
involves technical risk, productivity improvement or the application of a technology, process or innovation that is new to Saskatchewan and 
facilitates growth, supports trade or exports or enhances Saskatchewan’s competitiveness.  The prescribed amount is 18.75% in 2016-2017 and 
thereafter.

Golden has made the innovation sector a key pillar of its Class A Fund and the Class I Fund is focused exclusively on investment in innovation.  
Golden has a loss support agreement (the “WD Agreement”) with Western Economic Diversification Canada for investment transactions 
made in respect of the Class I Fund.  While eligible innovation sector investments for the purposes of the WD Agreement and the legislation in 
Saskatchewan are similar, they are not identical. 

Under the Saskatchewan Act, Golden is required to invest and maintain at least 75% of its equity capital raised in Saskatchewan in investments in 
eligible Saskatchewan companies within two years from the fiscal year end of raising the equity capital.  For share capital raised in Saskatchewan, 
as at August 31, 2017, Golden had invested $192,181.  Based on this level of investment, Golden has met its Saskatchewan investment 
requirements.  

Under the Manitoba Act, Golden is required to invest at least 70% of its equity capital raised in Manitoba in investments in eligible Manitoba 
companies within two years from the fiscal year end of raising the equity capital, and 14% of the equity capital so invested must be in eligible 
investments for which the total cost of the eligible investments held by Golden in such entity and any related entities does not exceed 
$2 million.  For share capital raised in Manitoba, as at August 31, 2017, Golden had invested $7,561 and is in compliance with its Manitoba 
investment requirements.    

The business of Golden is to invest its eligible capital in Saskatchewan and Manitoba eligible businesses and in proportion to the jurisdiction 
where it was raised.  There is a risk Golden will not be able to find suitable investments that meet its investment criteria.  

Please see Note 13 to the financial statements for disclosure about the nature and extent of risks relative to financial instruments and how 
Golden manages those risks.

Valuing venture investments is inevitably based on inherent uncertainties and the resulting values may differ from values that would have been 
used had a ready market existed for the investments.  

Class A Fund
For the Class A Fund, the Fund attempts to mitigate the risk of its investment portfolio by investing in a diverse range of industries, and investing 
in companies at different stages of the business cycle.  As at August 31, 2017, the Class A Fund’s top four sectors based on cost were oil & gas, 
services, value added manufacturing and healthcare.  For diversification, as at August 31, 2017, the Class A Fund is invested in 11 different 
industry sectors.  Golden continues to hold investments in companies at each stage of the business development cycle.  During the time 
Golden holds an investment, a portfolio company will move through the different stages of the business development cycle.  As at August 31, 
2017, the Class A Fund’s venture investment portfolio, based on investment cost, was 26.16% mature, 55.78% growth, and 18.06% start-up.  The 
total cost base of the Class A Fund’s venture investment portfolio represents 75.77% of the Class A Fund’s net assets, and the cost base of the 
top five portfolio holdings represents 30.28% of the Class A Fund’s net assets.  Over the past five years, the cost base of the top five holdings as a 
percentage of the Class A Fund’s net assets has been in the range of 23% - 30%. 

Class I Fund
The Class I Fund invests in companies in the innovation sector of the Saskatchewan and Manitoba economies.  These sectors include, but are 
not limited to, information and communication technology, life sciences, industrial biotechnology, clean technology, value-added agriculture, 
and advanced manufacturing.  As at August 31, 2017, the Class I Fund was invested in 13 entities within six different industry sectors.  Within the 
different stages of the business development cycle, as at August 31, 2017, the Class I Fund’s venture investment portfolio, based on investment 
cost, was 29.22% mature, 54.41% growth and 16.37% start-up.  The total cost base of the Class I Fund venture investments represents 26.12% of 
the Class I Fund’s net assets.  For investments made by the Class I Fund, the WD Agreement will provide loss protection support to Class I and 
Class I-F shareholders.  Details of the loss support program are contained in Golden’s prospectus.
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Class R Fund
The Class R Fund invests in companies in the energy, mining and/or related resource services sectors of the Saskatchewan economy.  As at 
August 31, 2017, the Class R Fund was invested in seven companies within the oil & gas sector.  Within the different stages of the business 
development cycle, as at August 31, 2017, the Class R Fund’s venture investment portfolio, based on investment cost, was 68.76% growth and 
31.24% start-up.  The total cost base of the Class R Fund’s venture investments represents 39.54% of the Class R Fund’s net assets. 

Results of Operations

Net Assets 
(in thousands of dollars except per share amounts and number of shares)

The net assets of the Class A Fund increased from $240,470 as at August 31, 2016 to $245,390 as at August 31, 2017.  Net asset value per Class A 
share increased from $13.83 as at August 31, 2016 to $14.22 as at August 31, 2017, an increase of 2.82%.  The net asset value per Class A-F share 
increased by 7.34%, from $14.03 at August 31, 2016 to $15.06 at August 31, 2017.  

The increase in the net assets of the Class A Fund of $4,920 is attributable to an increase in net assets from operations of $7,319 for the year 
ended August 31, 2017, partially offset by a net decrease in share capital of $2,399 during the period.   The Class A Fund raised proceeds 
of $24,048, from the issue of Class A and Class A-F shares during the year ended August 31, 2017 and incurred $26,447 of redemptions, 
representing 10.15% of the outstanding share capital.  During the year ended August 31, 2017, the number of Class A shares outstanding 
decreased from 17,372,851 to 17,106,601, and the number of Class A-F shares outstanding increased from 18,047 to 123,306. 

Cash and short-term investments of the Class A Fund decreased from $43,475 at August 31, 2016 to $30,813 as at August 31, 2017 largely 
due to venture investment purchases of $11,822 and net share capital redemptions of $2,456 paid in the year, partially offset by $3,778 of 
repayments and proceeds on dispositions of venture investments in the year.  The Class A Fund continues to hold cash and liquid short-term 
investments to maintain sufficient liquidity to meet shareholder redemptions, operational requirements, and future venture investments.         

As at August 31, 2017, the net assets of the Class I Fund totaled $30,004, an increase of $5,358 from August 31, 2016. The increase in the Class I 
Fund net assets is attributable to an increase in share capital of $3,768 after redemptions, as well as an increase in net assets from operations 
for the year ended August 31, 2017 of $1,590.  The net asset value per Class I share increased from $10.87 as at August 31, 2016 to $11.55 as at 
August 31, 2017, an increase of 6.26%.  The net asset value per Class I-F share increased from $11.13 at August 31, 2016 to $12.47 at August 31, 
2017, an increase of 12.04%.

During the year ended August 31, 2017, the Class I Fund raised proceeds of $4,901 from the issue of Class I and Class I-F shares and incurred 
$1,133 of redemptions, representing 4.03% of the outstanding share capital.  The number of Class I shares outstanding increased from 
2,267,259 to 2,583,726 during the year ended August 31, 2017, and the number of Class I-F shares outstanding increased from 187 to 8,319 
during the year.  Cash and short-term investments of the Class I Fund were $20,961 at August 31, 2017, an increase of $2,789 from August 31, 
2016.  

As at August 31, 2017, the net assets of the Class R Fund totaled $8,324, an increase of $905 from August 31, 2016.  The increase in net assets  
of the Class R Fund is attributable to an increase in share capital of $1,064 after redemptions offset by a decrease in net assets from operations 
of $159 for the year ended August 31, 2017.  Net asset value per Class R share decreased from $8.64 as at August 31, 2016 to $8.48 as at  
August 31, 2017, a decrease of 1.85%. The net asset value per Class R-F share increased from $8.87 at August 31, 2016 to $9.09 at August 31, 
2017, an increase of 2.48%.

During the year ended August 31, 2017, the Class R Fund raised proceeds of $1,105 from the issue of Class R and Class R-F shares and incurred 
redemptions of $41, representing 0.42% of the outstanding share capital. The number of Class R shares outstanding increased from 858,747 to 
980,641 during the year ended August 31, 2017, and the number of Class R-F shares outstanding increased from 175 to 920 during the year.  At 
August 31, 2017, the Class R Fund had cash and short-term investments of $5,293, an increase of $561 from August 31, 2016.

Statement of Comprehensive Income 
(in thousands of dollars)

Income

Excluding net realized and unrealized gains, income for the Class A Fund for the year ended August 31, 2017 was $8,672 compared to $12,795 
for the year ended August 31, 2016. Partnership income decreased by $3,291 from the prior year due to a decline in income allocations 
received from investments in partnerships.  Dividend income decreased by $854 from the year ended August 31, 2016 primarily due to a non-
recurring dividend of $1,000 received from Jump.ca Wireless Supply Corp. in the prior year, partially offset by an increase in dividends received 
from Connect Energy Holdings Ltd. in the current year.  These decreases were partially offset by an increase in interest income of $63 from the 
year ended August 31, 2016 mainly due to debt investments in Med-Life Discoveries LP that were made beginning in July 2016, partially offset 
by reduced interest income from cash and investments in the current year.  

Income for the Class I Fund excluding net realized and unrealized gains was $647 for the year ended August 31, 2017 compared to $961 for the 
year ended August 31, 2016.  The decline in interest income of $297 is primarily due to the repayment of the Yolbolsum Canada Inc. debenture 
in the prior year which contributed interest of $306 in the year ended August 31, 2016.  
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Excluding net realized and unrealized gains, income for the Class R Fund decreased from $37 in the year ended August 31, 2016 to $33 in the 
current year.  There were no significant changes in income earned in the year ended August 31, 2017 compared to the prior year.

Expenses

Excluding the change in the contingent incentive participation amount (“IPA”) and the IPA, expenses for the Class A Fund decreased from 
$12,274 in the year ended August 31, 2016 to $11,751 in the current year.  The decrease in expenses is reflective of a decline in the net asset 
value of the Class A Fund from the prior year.  For the year ended August 31, 2017, the average net asset value of the Class A Fund was 
$249,903, and for the prior year the average net asset value of the Class A Fund was $257,024.  

For the year ended August 31, 2017, the Class A Share management expense ratio (“MER”) of 5.53% (2016 – 4.06%) is based on total expenses 
attributable to the Class A Shares, excluding transaction costs.  If the IPA and the change in the contingent IPA provision were excluded from 
this calculation, the Class A Share MER for the year ended August 31, 2017 would have been 4.71% (2016 – 4.73%).

The Class A-F Share MER of -0.44% (2016 – negative 0.72%) for the year ended August 31, 2017 includes all expenses attributable to the Class 
A-F Shares, excluding transaction costs.  If the IPA and the change in contingent IPA provision were excluded from this calculation, the Class 
A-F Share MER would have been 0.74% (2016 - 0.88%) for the year ended August 31, 2017.

For the Class I Fund, expenses excluding the IPA and the change in contingent IPA increased from $1,066 in the year ended August 31, 2016 to 
$1,326 in the current year. The average net asset value of the Class I Fund was $27,685 for the year ended August 31, 2017 and for the prior year 
the average net asset value was $22,732.  

The Class I Share MER for the year ended August 31, 2017 of 7.26% (2016 – 5.71%) includes all expenses attributable to the Class I Shares, 
excluding transaction costs.  If the IPA and the change in contingent IPA provision were excluded from this calculation, the Class I Share MER 
for the year ended August 31, 2017 would have been 4.80% (2016 – 4.70%).

For the year August 31, 2017, the Class I-F Share MER of 1.86% (2016 - 2.96%) is based on total expenses attributable to the Class I-F Shares, 
excluding transaction costs.  If the IPA and the change in the contingent IPA provision were excluded from this calculation, the Class I-F Share 
MER for the year ended August 31, 2017 would have been 0.73% (2016 - 1.29%).

Excluding the change in the contingent IPA and the IPA, expenses for the Class R Fund for the year ended August 31, 2017 were $415 
compared to $376 for the prior year.  The average net asset value for the current year was $7,967, compared to $7,422 for the year ended 
August 31, 2016. 

For the year ended August 31, 2017, the Class R Share MER of 5.24% (2016 – 2.78%) is based on total expenses attributable to the Class R 
Shares, excluding transaction costs.  If the IPA and the change in the contingent IPA provision were excluded from this calculation, the Class R 
Share MER for the year ended August 31, 2017 would have been 5.24% (2016 – 5.11%).

The Class R-F Share MER of 0.79% (2016 – negative 0.40%) for the year ended August 31, 2017 includes all expenses attributable to the Class 
R-F Shares, excluding transaction costs.  If the IPA and the change in contingent IPA provision were excluded from this calculation, the Class R-F 
Share MER would have been 0.79% (2016 - 1.21%) for the year ended August 31, 2017.

Unrealized gains

For the year ended August 31, 2017, the Class A Fund had a net increase of $15,847 in the unrealized appreciation of venture investments, 
and had net realized losses of $3,429.  During the year, unrealized losses of $3,429 were reclassified to realized losses upon the disposition of 
Phenomenome Discoveries Inc.  Net unrealized gains of $17,387 on investments in public companies were partially offset by net unrealized 
losses of $4,969 on investments in privately held investees.  During the year ended August 31, 2017, there was an increase of $1,830 in the 
contingent IPA on the Class A Fund, which is not payable until a full exit from the applicable investments is realized.

During the year ended August 31, 2017, the Class I Fund recognized a net increase of $3,164 in the unrealized appreciation of venture 
investments, and had net realized losses of $160.  During the year, unrealized losses of $160 were reclassified to realized losses upon the 
disposition of Phenomenome Discoveries Inc.   The balance of change in net unrealized appreciation is comprised of unrealized gains of 
$2,476 on investments in public companies and net unrealized gains of $528 on investments in privately held investees.  A decrease of $55 
in the amount of the loss support program contributions considered repayable to Western Economic Diversification Canada was recognized 
in the year ended August 31, 2017, as per the terms of the WD Agreement.  The $55 has been recognized as a decrease in unrealized loss 
recovery during the current year.  There was an increase of $677 in the contingent IPA on the Class I Fund during the year ended August 31, 
2017, which is not payable until a full exit from the applicable investment is realized.

For the year ended August 31, 2017, the Class R Fund had a net increase in the unrealized value of venture investments of $223 due to an 
increase in its private investee companies.  At August 31, 2017, there is no contingent IPA attributable to the Class R Fund.  
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Investment Portfolio 
(in thousands of dollars)

Class A Fund

The cost base of the Class A Fund’s investments increased from $182,648 at August 31, 2016 to $185,939 as at August 31, 2017.  The increase 
of $3,291 is attributable to investments of $11,822 and capitalized partnership income of $6,529, offset by partnership distributions and 
investment repayments totaling $11,531 and disposals of investments with a cost base totaling $3,529.

Investments in the year ended August 31, 2017 were as follows:

	 •	 		a	new	investment	of	$3,983	in	Fort	Garry	Brewing	Company	LP,	a	micro	brewer	in	Winnipeg,	MB;

	 •	 follow-on	investments	of	$3,500	in	Credence	Resources	II	LP,	an	oil	and	gas	partnership	headquartered	in	Saskatoon,	SK;

	 •	 	follow-on	investments	of	$1,622	in	Med-Life	Discoveries	LP,	a	biotechnology	partnership	based	in	Saskatoon,	SK;

	 •	 	follow-on	investments	of	$1,368	in	Golden	Health	Care	Inc.,	a	company	headquartered	in	Saskatoon,	SK	operating	personal	care	homes	in	
Saskatchewan; 

	 •	 	a	follow-on	investment	of	$1,070	in	Western	Building	Centres	Ltd.,	a	company	headquartered	in	Saskatoon,	SK	operating	Home	Hardware	
franchises across the province of Saskatchewan; and

	 •	 	follow-on	investments	of	$279	in	Burgess	Creek	Exploration	Inc.,	an	oil	and	gas	exploration	and	production	company	focused	on	light	oil	
opportunities in southeast Saskatchewan;

During the year ended August 31, 2017, Prairie Plant Systems Inc. completed a reorganization in preparation for an initial public offering.  As 
a result of the reorganization and public offering, the Class A Fund and Class I Fund now hold investments in PM Power Group Holdings Ltd. 
(formerly a subsidiary of Prairie Plant Systems Inc.) and CanniMed Therapeutics Inc., which is listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange (TSX:CMED).

Golden recognizes income earned from partnerships as revenue, with a corresponding increase to the cost base of the investment.  
Distributions from partnerships are then recorded as a reduction in the cost base when received.  At August 31, 2017, undistributed 
partnership income totaling $6,308 is included in the cost base of the Class A Fund investments in Warman Home Centre LP, SuperiorFarms 
Solutions LP, Prairie Meats LP, Dyna Holdings LP, H.J.R. Asphalt LP, and Fort Garry Brewing Company LP.

The accompanying charts illustrate the diversification of the Class A Fund’s investments across different industry sectors based on the cost of 
the investments.

During the year ended August 31, 2017, the Class A Fund’s investment in the Biotechnology sector decreased from 12% to 8% due to the 
disposition of Phenomenome Discoveries Inc., as well as the reorganization of Prairie Plant Systems Inc. which resulted in PM Power Group 
Holdings Ltd. moving to the Energy Services sector.  The increase in the Services sector from 20% to 23% is due to partnership income 
allocations in excess of distributions received in the year ended August 31, 2017, which increased the cost base of the investments in this 
sector.

Class I Fund

The cost base of the Class I Fund’s venture investments increased from $7,675 as at August 31, 2016 to $7,837 as at August 31, 2017.  The 
increase was attributable to follow-on investments of $80 in Med-Life Discoveries LP and partnership income allocations of $356, partially 
offset by $114 in partnership income distributions received and the disposition of Phenomenome Discoveries Inc. which had a cost base 
of $160.  At August 31, 2017, total undistributed partnership income of $644 is included in the cost base of the Class I Fund investments in 
SuperiorFarms Solutions LP and Dyna Holdings LP.  

Class A Fund Investment Sectors  
(AUGUST 31, 2017)

technology 3%

environmental 2% energy services 1%

renewable energy 3% oil & gas  30%

Infrastructure  5%
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Class A Fund Investment Sectors  
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The diversification of the Class I Fund investment portfolio based on cost is presented in the accompanying charts.  

The Value Added Manufacturing sector increased from 37% to 42% during the year due to the partnership income allocations received during 
the period from SuperiorFarms Solutions LP and Dyna Holdings LP.  The Biotechnology sector decreased from 39% to 32% during the year ended 
August 31, 2017 due to the disposition of Phenomenome Discoveries Inc., as well as the reorganization of Prairie Plant Systems Inc. which resulted in 
PM Power Group Holdings Ltd. moving to the Energy Services sector.  The Technology sector decreased from 15% to 14% due to the cost increases 
added to other sectors, which reduced the weighting of the Technology sector accordingly.

Class R Fund

The cost base of the Class R Fund’s venture investments increased from $3,141 at August 31, 2016 to $3,291 as at August 31, 2017, due to follow-on 
investments of $150 in Burgess Creek Exploration Inc. during the year.  All of the Class R Fund venture investments are in the Oil and Gas sector. 

Recent Developments
Deferred Sales Charges
On December 13, 2016, Golden’s shareholders approved an amendment to the articles of incorporation which eliminated the deferred sales 
charge on all share classes. The deferred sales charge had previously applied to shares redeemed prior to an eight-year hold period.

Saskatchewan Provincial Budget
On June 30, 2017, the Government of Saskatchewan proclaimed the Labour-sponsored Venture Capital Corporations Amendment Act, 2017 to 
be in force, as well as amendments to the Labour-sponsored Venture Capital Corporations Act Regulations.  The legislation enacts a one-time 
reduction to the provincial labour-sponsored venture capital corporation tax credit from 20% to 17.5% effective for the 2018 tax year, and 
reduces the annual capitalization limit for labour-sponsored venture capital corporations to $35 million from $40 million.  The provincial tax 
credit will remain at 20% for the 2017 tax year.

Related Party Transactions 
(in thousands of dollars)  
The Fund Manager is a company controlled by the President & Chief Executive Officer of Golden, and was engaged by an agreement dated 
December 31, 2008.  Please refer to the “Management Fees” section for a description of services provided by the Fund Manager. 

During the year ended August 31, 2017, management fees, including GST, for the Class A Fund of $6,522 (2016 - $6,760) were paid or payable to the 
Fund Manager, and the Fund Manager earned an IPA on the Class A Fund of $190 (2016 - $1,404).  At August 31, 2017 a contingent IPA is accrued on 
the Class A Fund in the amount of $20,417 (2016 - $18,587).  

For the Class I Fund, management fees of $722 were paid or payable during the year ended August 31, 2017 (2016 - $598), and the Fund Manager 
earned an IPA on the Class I Fund of $3 (2016 - $91).  As at August 31, 2017, a contingent IPA is accrued on the Class I Fund in the amount of $1,423 
(2016 - $746).  

Management fees of $209 were paid or payable for the Class R Fund during the year ended August 31, 2017 (2016 – $197), and the Fund Manager 
earned an IPA on the Class R Fund of $nil (2016 - $87).  No contingent IPA is accrued for the Class R Fund at August 31, 2017 or 2016. 

The Fund Manager does not begin to earn the management fee with respect to the F Series until Golden has reached $5,000 in gross subscriptions 
for F Series shares.  As a result, Class A-F management fees of $30 were unearned in the year ended August 31, 2017 (2016 - $3).  For the Class I-F 
shares, management fees of $2 (2016 – not significant) were unearned in the year ended August 31, 2017.  Unearned Class R-F management fees for 
the year ended August 31, 2017 and 2016 were not significant.

In respect of the Class A Fund, office costs totaling $9 were paid or payable to the Fund Manager in the year ended August 31, 2017 (2016 - $9).  In 
respect of the Class I Fund, office costs totaling $1 were paid or payable to the Fund Manager in the year ended August 31, 2017 (2016 - $1).  There 
were no office or other costs paid or payable to the Fund Manager by the Class R Fund in the year ended August 31, 2017 or 2016.    

At August 31, 2017, the accounts payable and accrued liabilities balance for the Class A Fund includes management fees payable to the Fund 
Manager of $546 (2016 - $541) and office and other costs payable to the Fund Manager of $1 (2016 - $1).  At August 31, 2017, the accounts payable 
and accrued liabilities balance for the Class I Fund includes management fees payable to the Fund Manager of $64 (2016 - $54).  Management 
fees payable to the Fund Manager of $19 are included in the accounts payable and accrued liabilities balance for the Class R Fund at  
August 31, 2017 (2016 - $13).  

Class I Fund Investment Sectors  
(AUGUST 31, 2017)
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The above-mentioned transactions were in the normal course of operations, are non-interest bearing, and are measured at the exchange 
amount, which is the amount of consideration established and agreed to by the related parties.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
The following tables show selected key financial information about Golden and are intended to help you understand Golden’s financial 
performance for the past five years.

Class A Fund  

Net Assets per Class A Share (1)

2017(2) 2016(2) 2015(2) 2014(2) 2013(3)

Net assets, beginning of year $ 13.83 $ 15.38 $ 15.05 $ 13.78 $ 13.31

Increase (decrease) from operations: 

Total revenue $ 0.50 $ 0.74 $ 0.72 $ 1.03 $ 0.79

Total expenses (0.68) (0.71) (0.72) (0.70) (0.50)

Realized (losses) gains (0.21) (0.55) 0.30 0.07 (0.16)

Unrealized gains (losses) 0.81 (1.03) 0.05 0.90 0.54

Total (decrease) increase from operations(4) $ 0.42 $ (1.55) $ 0.35 $ 1.30 $ 0.67

Net assets at August 31 of year shown $ 14.24 $ 13.83 $ 15.38 $ 15.05 $ 13.78

(1)  The information for the year ended August 31, 2013 is derived from Golden’s audited annual financial statements prepared in accordance with 
Canadian generally accepted accounting principles (“Canadian GAAP”).  The information for the years ended August 31, 2014 - 2017 has been 
derived from Golden’s audited financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS.  The net assets per security presented in the financial 
statements differ from the net asset value calculated for fund pricing purposes.  An explanation of these differences can be found in Note 8 to 
Golden’s financial statements. 

(2) Amounts presented for the years ended August 31, 2014 - 2017 are prepared in accordance with IFRS. 

(3)  Amounts presented for the year ended August 31, 2013 are prepared in accordance with Canadian GAAP. 

(4)  Net assets are based on the actual number of shares outstanding at the relevant time.  The increase/decrease from operations is based on the 
weighted average number of shares outstanding over the financial period. 

Net Assets per Class A-F Share (1)

Year ended 
August 31, 2017

Period ended 
August 31, 2016

Net assets, beginning of period $ 14.03 $ 15.03

Increase (decrease) from operations: 

Total revenue $ 0.81 $0.10

Total expenses (0.11) (0.07)

Realized losses (0.37) (0.28)

Unrealized losses (0.40) (0.94)

Total decrease from operations(2) $ (0.07) $ (1.19)

Net assets at August 31 of period shown $ 15.08 $ 14.03

(1)  Operations with respect to the Class A-F shares began February 12, 2016 with the first issue of Class A-F shares at the price of $15.03 per share. 
This information is derived from Golden’s audited financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS.  The net assets per security presented 
in the financial statements differ from the net asset value calculated for fund pricing purposes.  An explanation of these differences can be 
found in Note 8 to Golden’s financial statements. 

(2)  Net assets are based on the actual number of shares outstanding at the relevant time.  The increase/decrease from operations is based on the 
weighted average number of shares outstanding over the financial period.
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Ratios and Supplemental Data – Class A Shares 

2017 2016 2015 2014 2013

Total net asset value (000’s) (1) $ 243,267 $ 240,217 $ 264,145 $ 246,246 $ 210,781

Number of shares outstanding (1) 17,106,601 17,372,851 17,179,569 16,357,822 15,314,245

Management expense ratio (2) 5.53% 4.06% 7.31% 7.78% 6.21%

Trading expense ratio (3) - 0.01% - 0.02% 0.02%

Portfolio turnover rate (4) 1.97% 10.77% 4.57% 10.32% 6.79%

Net asset value per share $ 14.22 $ 13.83 $ 15.38 $ 15.05 $ 13.76

 
(1)   This information is provided as at August 31 of the year shown.  

(2)   Management expense ratio is based on total expenses (excluding commissions and other portfolio transaction costs) for the stated year and is 
expressed as an annualized percentage of weekly average net asset value during the period.  

(3)   The trading expense ratio represents total commissions and other portfolio transaction costs expressed as an annualized percentage of the 
weekly average net asset value during the year. The trading expense ratios for the years ended August 31, 2015 and August 31, 2017 were less 
than 0.01%.

(4)   Golden’s portfolio turnover rate indicates how actively Golden’s manager manages its portfolio investments.  A portfolio turnover rate of 
100% is equivalent to Golden buying and selling all of the securities in its portfolio once in the course of the year.  The higher a fund’s portfolio 
turnover in a year the greater the chance of an investor receiving taxable capital gains in the year.  There is not necessarily a relationship 
between a high turnover rate and the performance of Golden.

Ratios and Supplemental Data – Class A-F Shares 

2017 2016

Total net asset value (000’s) (1) $ 1,857 $ 253

Number of shares outstanding (1) 123,306 18,047

Management expense ratio (2) (0.44)% (0.72)%

Trading expense ratio (3) - -

Portfolio turnover rate (4) 1.97% 4.80%

Net asset value per share $ 15.06 $ 14.03

 
(1)   This information is provided as at August 31 of the period shown.  Golden issued its first Class A-F shares on February 12, 2016.

(2)   Management expense ratio is based on total expenses (excluding commissions and other portfolio transaction costs) for the stated period 
and is expressed as an annualized percentage of weekly average net asset value during the period.  

(3)   The trading expense ratio represents total commissions and other portfolio transaction costs expressed as an annualized percentage of the 
weekly average net asset value during the period. The trading expense ratios for the periods ended August 31, 2016 and August 31, 2017 were 
less than 0.01%.

(4)   Golden’s portfolio turnover rate indicates how actively Golden’s manager manages its portfolio investments.  A portfolio turnover rate of 
100% is equivalent to Golden buying and selling all of the securities in its portfolio once in the course of the year.  The higher a fund’s portfolio 
turnover in a year the greater the chance of an investor receiving taxable capital gains in the year.  There is not necessarily a relationship 
between a high turnover rate and the performance of Golden.  
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Class I Fund
Net Assets per Class I Share(1)  

2017(2) 2016(2) 2015(2) 2014(2) 2013(3)

Net assets, beginning of year $ 10.87 $ 10.65 $ 10.61 $ 10.07 $ 10.10

Increase (decrease) from operations: 

Total revenue $ 0.27 $ 0.57 $ 0.53 $ 0.37 $ 0.20

Total expenses (0.55) (0.50) (0.53) (0.53) (0.38)

Total expenses waived/recovered - - - - 0.11

Realized losses (0.07) (0.04) - - -

Unrealized gains 1.00 0.19 0.07 0.80 0.22

Total increase from operations(4) $ 0.65 $ 0.22 $ 0.07 $ 0.65 $ 0.15

Net assets at August 31 of year shown $ 11.57 $ 10.87 $ 10.65 $ 10.61 $ 10.07

 

(1)   The information for the year ended August 31, 2013 is derived from Golden’s audited annual financial statements prepared in accordance with 
Canadian GAAP.  The information for the years ended August 31, 2014 - 2017 has been derived from Golden’s audited financial statements 
prepared in accordance with IFRS.  The net assets per security presented in the financial statements differ from the net asset value calculated 
for fund pricing purposes.  An explanation of these differences can be found in Note 8 to Golden’s financial statements.  

(2)   Amounts presented for the years ended August 31, 2014 - 2017 are prepared in accordance with IFRS.  

(3)   Amounts presented for the year ended August 31, 2013 are prepared in accordance with Canadian GAAP.  

(4)   Net assets are based on the actual number of shares outstanding at the relevant time.  The increase/decrease from operations is based on the 
weighted average number of shares outstanding over the financial period. 

 Net Assets per Class I-F Share(1)

Year ended 
August 31, 2017

Period ended 
August 31, 2016

Net assets, beginning of period $ 11.13 $ 10.68

Increase (decrease) from operations: 

Total revenue $ 0.40 $ 0.12

Total expenses (0.09) (0.07)

Realized losses (0.12) (0.02)

Unrealized gains 0.48 0.46

Total increase from operations(2) $ 0.67 $ 0.49

Net assets at end of period shown $ 12.49 $ 11.13

 
(1)   Operations with respect to the Class I-F shares began February 19, 2016 with the first issuance of Class I-F shares at the price of $10.68.  This 

information is derived from Golden’s audited financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS.  The net assets per security presented in 
the financial statements differ from the net asset value calculated for fund pricing purposes.  An explanation of these differences can be found 
in Note 8 to Golden’s financial statements.  

(2)   Net assets are based on the actual number of shares outstanding at the relevant time.  The increase/decrease from operations is based on the 
weighted average number of shares outstanding over the financial period.  
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Ratios and Supplemental Data – Class I Shares 

2017 2016 2015 2014 2013

Total net asset value (000’s) (1) $ 29,858 $ 24,644 $ 20,835 $ 16,839 $ 11,340

Number of shares outstanding (1) 2,583,726 2,267,259 1,955,588 1,587,133 1,125,780

Management expense ratio (2) 7.26% 5.71% 6.00% 7.68% 5.24%

Management expense ratio before  
waiver/recovery (3) 7.26% 5.71% 6.00% 7.68% 6.87%

Portfolio turnover rate (4) - 31.98% 11.83% 0.54% -

Net asset value per share $ 11.55 $ 10.87 $ 10.65 $ 10.61 $ 10.07

 
(1)   This information is provided as at August 31 of the year shown.  

(2)   Management expense ratio is based on total expenses (excluding commissions and other portfolio transaction costs) for the stated year and is 
expressed as an annualized percentage of weekly average net asset value during the period.  

(3)   The Management expense ratio before waiver/recovery is based on management expense excluding waived management fees, unearned 
marketing service fees, and cost recoveries. 

(4)   Golden’s portfolio turnover rate indicates how actively Golden’s manager manages its portfolio investments.  A portfolio turnover rate of 
100% is equivalent to Golden buying and selling all of the securities in its portfolio once in the course of the year.  The higher a fund’s portfolio 
turnover in a year the greater the chance of an investor receiving taxable capital gains in the year.  There is not necessarily a relationship 
between a high turnover rate and the performance of Golden.    

(5)   Golden has not incurred any commissions or other portfolio transaction costs with respect to Class I shares since inception.

Ratios and Supplemental Data – Class I-F Shares    

          2017           2016

Total net asset value (000’s) (1) $ 104 $ 2

Number of shares  outstanding (1) 8,319 187

Management expense ratio (2) 1.86% 2.96%

Portfolio turnover rate(3) - 58.46%

Net asset value per share $ 12.47 $ 11.13

 
(1)  This information is at August 31 of the period shown.  Golden issued its first Class I-F shares on February 19, 2016.

(2)   Management expense ratio is based on total expenses (excluding commissions and other portfolio transaction costs) for the stated year and is 
expressed as an annualized percentage of weekly average net asset value during the period.  

(3)   Golden’s portfolio turnover rate indicates how actively Golden’s manager manages its portfolio investments.  A portfolio turnover rate of 
100% is equivalent to Golden buying and selling all of the securities in its portfolio once in the course of the year.  The higher a fund’s portfolio 
turnover in a year the greater the chance of an investor receiving taxable capital gains in the year.  There is not necessarily a relationship 
between a high turnover rate and the performance of Golden.

(4)   Golden has not incurred any commissions or other portfolio transaction costs with respect to Class I-F shares since inception.
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Class R Fund
Net Assets per Class R Share (1)  

2017(2) 2016(2) 2015(2) 2014(2) 2013(3)

Net assets, beginning of period $ 8.64 $ 10.54 $ 10.24 $ 10.22 $ 10.00

Increase (decrease) from operations: 

Total revenue $ 0.04 $ 0.05 $ 0.05 $ 0.05 $ 0.04

Total expenses (0.45) (0.48) (0.53) (0.57) (0.25)

Total expenses waived/recovered - - - 0.10 0.17

Realized gains - 0.07 0.02 - -

Unrealized gains (losses) for the period 0.24 (1.52) 0.79 0.47 0.50

Total (decrease) increase from operations (4) $ (0.17) $ (1.88) $ 0.32 $ 0.04 $ 0.46

Net assets as at end of period shown $ 8.48 $ 8.64 $ 10.54 $ 10.24 $ 10.22

 

(1)   Active operations with respect to Class R shares began on January 4, 2013 with the first issue of Class R shares at the price of $10.00 per share.  
The information for the period ended August 31, 2013 is derived from Golden’s audited financial statements prepared in accordance with 
Canadian GAAP.  The information for the years ended August 31, 2014 - 2017 has been derived from Golden’s audited financial statements 
prepared in accordance with IFRS.  

(2)   Amounts presented for the years ended August 31, 2014 - 2017 are prepared in accordance with IFRS.  

(3)   Amounts presented for the period ended August 31, 2013 are prepared in accordance with Canadian GAAP.  

(4)   Net assets are based on the actual number of shares outstanding at the relevant time.  The increase/decrease from operations is based on the 
weighted average number of shares outstanding over the financial period.

Net Assets per Class R-F Share  (1)

Year ended 
August 31, 2017

Period ended 
August 31, 2016

Net assets, beginning of period $ 8.87 $ 9.52

Increase (decrease) from operations: 

Total revenue $ 0.04 $ 0.03

Total expenses (0.07) (0.06)

Realized losses - (0.42)

Unrealized gains (losses) 0.07 (0.19)

Total increase (decrease) from operations(2) $ 0.04 $ (0.64)

Net assets at end of period shown $ 9.09 $ 8.87

 
(1)   Operations with respect to the Class R-F shares began February 19, 2016 with the first issuance of Class R-F shares at the price of $9.52.  This 

information is derived from Golden’s audited financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS.  The net assets per security presented in 
the financial statements differ from the net asset value calculated for fund pricing purposes.  An explanation of these differences can be found 
in Note 8 to Golden’s financial statements.  

(2)   Net assets are based on the actual number of shares outstanding at the relevant time. The increase/decrease from operations is based on the 
weighted average number of shares outstanding over the financial period.  
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Ratios and Supplemental Data – Class R Shares 

2017 2016 2015 2014 2013

Total net asset value (000’s) (1) $ 8,317 $ 7,417 $ 7,400 $ 5,526 $ 2,951

Number of shares outstanding (1) 980,641 858,747 702,193 539,534 288,793

Management expense ratio (2) 5.24% 2.78% 7.72% 6.40% 4.69%

Management expense ratio before waiver/recovery (3) 5.24% 2.78% 7.72% 7.92% 8.82%

Trading expense ratio (4) - 0.03% - - -

Portfolio turnover rate (5) - 32.27% 4.25% 4.29% -

Net asset value per share $ 8.48 $ 8.64 $ 10.54 $ 10.24 $ 10.22

 
(1)   This information is provided as at August 31 of the period shown.  

(2)   Management expense ratio is based on total expenses (excluding commissions and other portfolio transaction costs) for the stated 
year and is expressed as an annualized percentage of weekly average net asset value during the period.  

(3)   The Management expense ratio before waiver/recovery is based on management expense excluding waived management fees, 
unearned marketing service fees, and cost recoveries.

(4)   The trading expense ratio represents total commissions and other portfolio transaction costs expressed as an annualized 
percentage of the average weekly net asset value during the period. 

 (5)   Golden’s portfolio turnover rate indicates how actively Golden’s manager manages its portfolio investments.  A portfolio turnover 
rate of 100% is equivalent to Golden buying and selling all of the securities in its portfolio once in the course of the year.  The higher 
a fund’s portfolio turnover in a year the greater the chance of an investor receiving taxable capital gains in the year.  There is not 
necessarily a relationship between a high turnover rate and the performance of Golden. 

Ratios and Supplemental Data – Class R-F Shares    

          2017           2016

Total net asset value (000’s)(1) $ 8 $ 2

Number of shares  outstanding(1) 920 175

Management expense ratio(2) 0.79% (0.40)%

Trading expense ratio(3) - -

Portfolio turnover rate(4) - -

Net asset value per share $ 9.09 $ 8.87

 
(1)   This information is provided as at August 31 of the period shown.  

(2)   Management expense ratio is based on total expenses (excluding commissions and other portfolio transaction costs) for the stated 
year and is expressed as an annualized percentage of weekly average net asset value during the period.  

(3)   The trading expense ratio represents total commissions and other portfolio transaction costs expressed as an annualized 
percentage of the average weekly net asset value during the period. The trading expense ratio for the year ended August 31, 2016 
was less than 0.01%.

(4)   Golden’s portfolio turnover rate indicates how actively Golden’s manager manages its portfolio investments.  A portfolio turnover 
rate of 100% is equivalent to Golden buying and selling all of the securities in its portfolio once in the course of the year.  The higher 
a fund’s portfolio turnover in a year the greater the chance of an investor receiving taxable capital gains in the year.  There is not 
necessarily a relationship between a high turnover rate and the performance of Golden.    

(5)   Golden has not incurred any commissions or other portfolio transaction costs with respect to Class R-F shares since inception.
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Management Fees 
(in thousands of dollars)

The annual management fee, which is calculated and payable monthly, is equal to 2.5% of the aggregate net asset value of Golden, on a class by 
class basis, as at each valuation date.  The Fund Manager has been retained to manage and administer the business affairs of Golden, including 
the management of Golden’s investments in eligible businesses and its marketable securities investments, and maintain all required books and 
records of Golden.  The Manager is also responsible for seeking out and identifying investment opportunities and undertaking operational due 
diligence of the investment opportunities.  The Manager develops investment recommendations to the Board, monitors all investments, provides 
performance reports to the Board and makes disposition recommendations to the Board.  For these services, the Manager is compensated with 
the management fees.  A 20% IPA is also payable to the Manager, provided certain criteria have been met.  The IPA is only earned on realized gains 
and the realized investment performance of Golden.  The criteria are fully described in Golden’s prospectus.    

PAST PERFORMANCE
The performance data provided does not take into account sales, redemption, or other optional charges payable by any shareholder that would 
have reduced returns.  Past performance does not necessarily indicate how a Fund will perform in the future.

Year-by-Year Returns
Class A Shares
The bar chart below shows the annual performance for each of the last ten completed fiscal year ends for Class A shares.  The bar chart shows, in 
percentage terms, how much an investment made on the first day of each financial year would have grown or decreased by the last day of each 
financial year.  The date of Golden’s financial year end is August 31.  

Class A-F Shares
The bar chart below shows the performance for the Class A-F shares for the periods presented.  The 2016 percentage indicates the performance 
from February 12, 2016, the first day on which the Class A-F shares were issued, to August 31, 2016.  The bar chart shows, in percentage terms, 
how much an investment made on the first day of each financial year would have grown or decreased by the last day of each financial year. 

Year-by-Year returns for Class a shares

15.00%

0.00%

-15.00%
2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 20172016

Year-by-Year returns for Class a-F shares

7.34%

2016 2017

15.00%

0.00%

-15.00%

2.82%
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Class I Shares
The bar chart below shows the performance for each of the last nine completed fiscal year ends for Class I shares.  The 2009 fiscal year end consists 
of the period from January 16, 2009, the first day on which the Class I shares were issued, to August 31, 2009.  The bar chart shows, in percentage 
terms, how much an investment made on the first day of each financial year would have grown or decreased by the last day of each financial year.

 

Class I-F Shares
The bar chart below shows the performance for the Class I-F shares for the periods presented.  The 2016 percentage indicates the performance 
from February 19, 2016, the first day on which the Class I-F shares were issued, to August 31, 2016. The bar chart shows, in percentage terms, how 
much an investment made on the first day of issue would have grown by the last day of the period.  

Class R Shares
The bar chart below shows the performance for each of the last five completed fiscal year ends for Class R shares.  The 2013 fiscal year end consists 
of the period from January 4, 2013, the first day on which the Class R shares were issued, to August 31, 2013.  The bar chart shows, in percentage 
terms, how much an investment made on the first day of the period would have grown by the last day of the period.

 
 

Class R-F Shares
The bar chart below shows the performance for the Class R-F shares for the period of February 19, 2016, the first day on which the Class R-F shares 
were issued, to August 31, 2016. The bar chart shows, in percentage terms, how much an investment made on the first day of issue would have 
grown by the last day of the period.

Year-by-Year returns for Class I shares
15.00%

 

0.00%

 

-15.00%

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

6.26%

Year-by-Year returns for Class I-F shares

12.04%

2016 2017

20.00%

 

0.00%

 

-20.00%

20.00%

 

0.00%

 

-20.00%

Year-by-Year returns for Class r shares

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

-1.85%

 10.00%

 

0.00%

 

-10.00%

Year-by-Year returns for Class r-F shares

2016 2017

2.48%
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Annual Compound Returns
Class A Shares

Golden Opportunities Fund Inc. CIFSC Retail Venture Capital Index

Ten year   - 0.13%           - 8.61%

Five year   1.32%           - 10.51%

Three year   - 1.87%           - 10.09%

One year   2.82%           - 2.48%

Class A-F Shares

Golden Opportunities Fund Inc. CIFSC Retail Venture Capital Index

Since Inception  0.13%            - 0.69%

One year 7.34%            - 2.48%

Class I Shares

Golden Opportunities Fund Inc. CIFSC Retail Venture Capital Index

Since Inception  1.68%           - 6.44%

Five year  2.66%           - 10.51%

Three year   2.87%           - 10.09%

One year   6.26%           - 2.48%

Class I-F Shares

Golden Opportunities Fund Inc. CIFSC Retail Venture Capital Index

Since Inception  10.65% - 1.00%

One year 12.04% - 2.48%

Class R Shares

Golden Opportunities Fund Inc. CIFSC Retail Venture Capital Index

Since Inception  - 3.48% - 9.90%

Three year - 6.09% - 10.09%

One year   - 1.85% - 2.48%

Class R-F Shares

Golden Opportunities Fund Inc. CIFSC Retail Venture Capital Index

Since Inception  - 2.97% - 1.00%

One year 2.48% - 2.48%

 
The returns for Golden Opportunities Fund Inc. do not take into consideration the tax credits received by the purchaser.

The “CIFSC Retail Venture Capital Index” combines the returns from 25 Retail Venture Capital Funds to provide a sector average return.
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SUMMARY OF INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO

Class A Fund
Below is a summary of the Class A Fund’s Investment portfolio as at August 31, 2017.  The percentages shown are the investment’s fair value as 
a percentage of the Class A Fund’s net asset value as at August 31, 2017.  Throughout the financial year, the summary of investment portfolio 
may change due to ongoing portfolio transactions of the Class A Fund and a quarterly update is available upon request.

Top 25 Holdings
1. CanniMed Therapeutics Inc. Equity 13.50%
2. Warman Home Centre LP Equity             13.47%
3. Golden Health Care Inc. Equity 10.66%
4. Cash  6.35%
5. Dyna Holdings LP Equity 6.04%
6. H.J.R. Asphalt LP Equity 4.32%
7. Credence Resources II LP Debt 4.13%, Equity n/m* 4.13%
8. SuperiorFarms Solutions LP Equity 3.97%
9. Avalon Oil & Gas Ltd. Equity 3.92%
10. Western Building Centres Limited Equity 3.81%
11. Prairie Meats LP Equity 3.53%
12. Field Exploration LP Debt 3.29%, Equity 0.10% 3.39%
13. Solido Design Automation Inc. Equity 3.21%
14. Can Pro Ingredients Ltd. Equity 3.11%
15. Terra Grain Fuels Inc. Equity 0.80%, Debt 2.06% 2.86%
16. Jump.ca Wireless Supply Corp. Equity 2.32%
17. Med-Life Discoveries LP Debt 1.03%, Equity 1.21% 2.24%
18. Conexus Credit Union Due September 9, 2017 Term Deposit 1.82%
19. Villanova 4 Oil Corp. Equity 1.74%
20. Fort Garry Brewing Company LP Equity 1.62%
21. Connect Energy Holdings Ltd. Equity 1.52%
22. Can Pro Capital Corp. Debt 1.36%, Equity n/m* 1.36%
23. Affinity Credit Union Due February 28, 2018 Term Deposit 1.26%
24. Conexus Credit Union Due March 15, 2018 Term Deposit 1.14%
25. Credence Resources LP Debt 0.96%, Equity 0.06% 1.02%

*n/m – not material; less than 0.01% 

Class A Fund Venture Investments – By Sector  
Services  23.51% 
Oil & Gas 17.23% 
Biotechnology 16.72% 
Value Added Manufacturing 15.24% 
Healthcare  11.19% 
Technology 5.85% 
Infrastructure  4.53% 
Renewable Energy  3.00% 
Energy Services 2.42% 
Real Estate  0.31%

  100.00%
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Class I Fund
Below is a summary of the Class I Fund’s investment portfolio as at August 31, 2017.  The percentages shown are the investment’s fair value as 
a percentage of the Class I Fund’s net asset value as at August 31, 2017.  Throughout the financial year, the summary of investment portfolio 
may change due to ongoing portfolio transactions of the Class I Fund and a quarterly update is available upon request.

Top 25 holdings
1. CanniMed Therapeutics Inc. Equity 15.03%
2. Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce Due September 11, 2017 Bankers Acceptance 9.34%
3. Bank of Nova Scotia Due September 15, 2017 Bankers Acceptance 9.34%
4. Citibank Canada Due September 25, 2017 Bankers Acceptance 9.34%
5. Bank of Montreal Due October 24, 2017 Bankers Acceptance 9.33%
6. Royal Bank of Canada Due February 20, 2018 Bankers Acceptance 9.29%
7. Dyna Holdings LP Equity 8.81%
8. Solido Design Automation Inc. Equity 8.63%
9. Cash 7.01%
10. SuperiorFarms Solutions LP Equity 5.53%
11. Med-Life Discoveries LP Debt 3.76%, Equity 0.47% 4.23%
12. Affinity Credit Union Due April 29, 2018 Term Deposit 3.67%
13. Conexus Credit Union Due July 18, 2018 Term Deposit 3.34%
14. Affinity Credit Union Due February 28, 2018 Term Deposit 1.81%
15. Conexus Credit Union Due March 15, 2018 Term Deposit 1.42%
16. Manulife Bank of Canada Due September 5, 2017 Bankers Discount Note 1.40%
17. Librestream Technologies Inc. Equity 1.27%
18. Affinity Credit Union Due March 16, 2018 Term Deposit 1.17%
19. PM Power Group Holdings Ltd. Equity 0.86%
20. Affinity Credit Union Due February 28, 2018 Term Deposit 0.83%
21. Conexus Credit Union Due April 13, 2018 Term Deposit 0.83%
22. Affinity Credit Union Due September 9, 2017 Term Deposit 0.67%
23. Affinity Credit Union Due December 4, 2017 Term Deposit 0.67%
24. MATRRIX Energy Technologies Inc. Equity 0.53%
25. Med-Life Discoveries GP Inc. Debt 0.01%, Equity n/m* 0.01%

*n/m – not material; less than 0.01%

Class I Fund Venture Investments – By Sector 
Biotechnology  42.91% 
Value Added Manufacturing 31.93% 
Technology  22.05% 
Energy Services 1.92% 
Oil & Gas 1.19% 

100.00%
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Class R Fund
Below is a summary of the Class R Fund’s investment portfolio as at August 31, 2017.  The percentages shown are the investment’s fair value as a 
percentage of the Class R Fund’s net asset value as at August 31, 2017.  Throughout the financial year, the summary of investment portfolio may 
change due to ongoing portfolio transactions of the Class R Fund and a quarterly update is available upon request.

1. Villanova 4 Oil Corp. Equity 11.71%
2. Cash  10.77%
3. Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce Due September 11, 2017 Bankers Acceptance 9.61%
4. Royal Bank of Canada Due February 20, 2018 Bankers Acceptance 8.94%
5. Credence Resources II LP Debt 7.56%, Equity 0.98% 8.54%
6. Bank of Nova Scotia Due September 15, 2017 Bankers Acceptance 8.41%
7. Bank of Montreal Due October 24, 2017 Bankers Acceptance 8.40% 
8. Avalon Oil & Gas Ltd. Equity 5.63%
9. Burgess Creek Exploration Inc. Equity 5.25%
10. Field Exploration LP Debt 3.32%, Equity n/m* 3.32%
11. Canadian Western Bank Due September 5, 2017 Bankers Acceptance 3.12%
12. Affinity Credit Union Due December 4, 2017 Term Deposit 2.52%
13. Affinity Credit Union Due February 28, 2017 Term Deposit 2.40%
14. Affinity Credit Union Due March 7, 2018 Term Deposit 2.28%
15. Lex Energy Partners LP Equity 1.99%
16. Conexus Credit Union Due July 18, 2017 Term Deposit 1.80%
17. Conexus Credit Union Due April 13, 2018 Term Deposit 1.44%
18. Affinity Credit Union Due April 13, 2018 Term Deposit 1.44%
19. Affinity Credit Union Due February 28, 2017 Term Deposit 1.32%
20. Manulife Bank of Canada Due September 5, 2017 Bankers Discount Note 1.12%
21. Credence Resources LP Debt 1.07%, Equity n/m* 1.07%

*n/m – not material; less than 0.01% 

Class R Fund Venture Investments – By Sector  
Oil & Gas    100.00%

 23

 
G

ol
de

n 
O

pp
or

tu
ni

tie
s F

un
d 

In
c.

  | 
 2

01
7 

an
nu

al
 r

ep
or

t



Policies and Practices of the Fund
Corporate Governance 
Golden Opportunities Fund Inc. (the “Fund”) has developed a corporate governance policy (the “Corporate Governance Policy”), having regard 
to what are generally considered to be the best corporate governance policies and practices for public companies.

The Corporate Governance Policy specifies the principles and practices applicable to governance of the Fund and, in particular, establishes a 
framework for relevant governance, process, policies and controls applicable to the Fund.  In addition to the Corporate Governance Policy, the 
Fund has adopted other policies and practices that it views as being consistent with the best corporate governance policies and practices.  
The Fund has also implemented procedures that will assist the Fund’s Board of Directors (the “Board”) and the Fund Manager, Westcap Mgt. 
Ltd. (the “Manager”), in achieving the policies set forth in the Corporate Governance Policy.

The following is a summary of certain matters addressed in the Corporate Governance Policy:

•	 		Objective	–	The	purpose	of	the	Corporate	Governance	Policy	is	to	maintain	strong	corporate	governance	standards	and	policies	for	the	Fund.		

•	 	Structure	and	Constitution	of	the	Board	–	The	structure	of	the	Board	will	be	in	accordance	with	The	Labour-Sponsored	Venture	Capital	
Corporations Act (Manitoba) (the “Manitoba Act”) and The Labour-sponsored Venture Capital Corporations Act (Saskatchewan) (the 
“Saskatchewan Act”) and will be comprised of business executives and professionals with a wide range of industry experience.  In addition, a 
majority of the Board will be independent of the Manager. 

•	 	Standards	of	Conduct	and	Code	of	Ethics	–	In	addition	to	the	duties	of	officers	and	directors	provided	for	in	The	Business	Corporations	Act	
(Saskatchewan), the officers and directors of the Fund will be governed by the CFA Institute Code of Ethics and Standards of Professional 
Conduct.  

•	 	Compensation	and	Insurance	–	The	Corporate	Governance	Policy	sets	out	the	compensation	structure	for	directors.		The	Fund	will	provide	
insurance for directors, officers and members of the independent review committee against liability incurred by them in such capacity.  

•	 	Strategic	Planning	–	On	at	least	an	annual	basis,	the	Fund	will	approve	an	operating	budget	for	the	upcoming	year	and	will	review	the	actual	
to budgeted results of the previous year.

•	 	Officers	–	The	Board	has	the	authority	to	appoint	the	officers	and	there	are	currently	two	officers	of	the	Fund.		

•	 	The	Manager	–	The	duties	and	responsibilities	of	the	Manager	are	as	set	out	in	a	management	agreement	between	the	Fund	and	the	
Manager, as amended February 5, 2016.

•	 	Shareholder	Communications	-	An	annual	report	together	with	annual	audited	financial	statements	and	annual	management	report	of	fund	
performance will be filed on an annual basis, and sent to all shareholders who request a copy.  In addition, the Fund will file its unaudited 
semi-annual interim financial statements and interim management report of fund performance, and send a copy to all shareholders who 
request a copy.  The Fund will send all required meeting materials for the Fund’s annual general meeting to its shareholders. The Fund has 
adopted a privacy policy related to the protection of confidential information of its shareholders.

The Fund is committed to continually reviewing and improving its corporate governance practices.  In that respect, the Fund intends to review 
the Corporate Governance Policy and its corporate governance practices on an annual basis and implement changes considered appropriate 
for the Fund from time to time.  The Corporate Governance Policy is available for inspection during regular business hours at the head office of 
the Fund at Suite 830, 410 – 22nd Street East, Saskatoon, SK, S7K 5T6.

Business Operations
The Fund’s Class A shares and Class A-F shares are referred to collectively as the “Class A Fund”, the Class I shares and the Class I-F shares are 
referred to collectively as the “Class I Fund”, and the Class R shares and the Class R-F shares are referred to collectively as the “Class R Fund”.  The 
Board approves an annual operating plan and budget for the Class A Fund, Class I Fund and Class R Fund. 

 Class A Fund

For the year ended August 31, 2017 the Fund raised Class A and Class A-F share capital in Saskatchewan of $23.3 million, which was $4.7 million 
lower than budget.  The Fund raised $772 thousand in Manitoba, which was $425 thousand higher than budget.  The Fund ended the year 
with a cost base on its venture investment portfolio of $185.9 million, which was $11.2 million below budget.  The Fund was $8.2 million below 
budget for venture investments purchased through the year and investment exits and repayments exceeded budget by approximately $3.0 
million.  Excluding net realized losses, net unrealized gains, the incentive participation amount, and the contingent incentive participation 
amount, the Class A Fund incurred a loss of $3.1 million, which exceeded the budgeted loss of $519 thousand for the year primarily due to 
decreased income allocations from investments in partnerships.  Please see the attached Annual Management Report of Fund Performance for a 
more detailed explanation of the Fund’s results for 2017.  

In the upcoming year the Fund intends to increase the amount of Class A Fund share capital raised in Saskatchewan and Manitoba.  The Fund 
will continue to manage expenses and focus on creating shareholder value within its venture investment portfolio, and will continue to make 
new investments and follow-on investments that meet the Fund’s investment criteria.
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Class I Fund

During the year ended August 31, 2017, the total Class I and Class I-F share capital raised in Saskatchewan of $4.8 million was $1 million below 
budget.  The Fund raised $121 thousand in Manitoba, which was $48 thousand higher than expected. Venture investments for the year were 
$80 thousand, which was below the target of $4.0 million for the year.  Excluding realized losses, net unrealized gains, the incentive participation 
amount and the contingent incentive participation amount, the Class I Fund incurred a loss $679 thousand in the year ended August 31, 2017, 
which was $292 thousand higher than the budgeted loss of $387 thousand for the year.  Please see the attached Annual Management Report of 
Fund Performance for a more detailed explanation of the Fund’s results for 2017.  

For the upcoming year the Fund intends to maintain its shareholder base in Saskatchewan and Manitoba, and make additional venture 
investments that meet its investment criteria.   

Class R Fund

During the year ended August 31, 2017, the Fund raised Class R and Class R-F share capital of $1.1 million and made venture investments of $150 
thousand, compared to budgets of $1.2 million for share capital raised and $2 million for new investments in the year.  Excluding net unrealized 
gains, the Class R share loss was $382 thousand which was more favourable than the budgeted loss of $390 thousand for the year.

For the upcoming year the Fund intends to maintain its shareholder base in Saskatchewan.  The Fund will make additional venture investments 
that meet the investment criteria.  

Compensation and Expenses
Directors of the Fund, other than those persons who are also directors, officers, or employees of the Manager, are entitled to receive: i) an annual 
retainer of $1,000; ii) each member of a committee of the Board will receive an additional annual retainer of $750; and iii) a fee of $400 per day for 
each Board or committee meeting attended or $200 if the Board or committee meeting is less than one hour in duration.  The aforementioned 
restriction currently applies to Grant J. Kook and Douglas W. Banzet.  In addition, all directors are entitled to be reimbursed for expenses incurred in 
attending Board and committee meetings.

The following table summarizes the compensation earned by the Fund’s Board of Directors during the year ended August 31, 2017.  The amounts 
indicated include independent review committee fees received by members of the Board of Directors and all Board and committee meetings the 
Director attended during the year.  

Director Director Fees Other Compensation Travel Expenses Other Expenses

Hon. William (Bill) McKnight  
Director and Chairman of the Board $5,300 $   - $   - $   -

Brian L. Barber  
Director, Vice-Chairman of the Board and  
Chairman of the Audit Committee

$5,100 $   - $   - $   -

Donald R. Ching  
Director and Chairman of the Investment Committee $4,300 $   - $   - $   -

Lorraine Sali  
Director and Chairperson of the Governance  
and Nominations Committee

$4,500 $   - $   - $   -

James S. Salamon  
Director $3,750 $   - $   - $   -

Ron S. Waldman  
Director and Chairman of the Valuation Committee $5,300 $   - $   - $   -

Thomas A. Shepherd  
Director $4,500 $   - $   - $   -

Grant J. Kook  
Director, President and CEO $- $   - $   - $   -

Douglas W. Banzet  
Director and CFO $- $   - $   - $   -

Total $32,750 $   - $   - $   -

 
The Fund has engaged the Manager to manage all aspects of the Fund.  The Manager charges a management fee based upon the pricing net 
asset value of the Fund and is responsible for the employment and payment of all salaries of the Manager’s staff.  As such, the Fund does not 
have any employees and the two officers of the Fund are not directly compensated by the Fund.  
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Policies and Practices for Use of Financial and Other Resources
The Fund plans to make investments in small- and medium-sized Saskatchewan eligible businesses and Manitoba eligible business 
entities, with the objective of achieving long-term capital appreciation.  The Fund will use its financial and other resources to achieve 
this objective. 

Risk Factors
The risks associated with making investments in the Fund are described in the Fund’s Prospectus under the section “Risk Factors”.   
A copy of the Fund’s Prospectus can be obtained by calling 1-866-261-5686, visiting the Fund’s website at www.goldenopportunities.ca, 
by writing to the Fund at Suite 830, 410 – 22nd Street East, Saskatoon, SK, S7K 5T6 or by visiting SEDAR’s website at www.sedar.com.

Valuation Policy
The Fund’s process for valuing its Class A, Class A-F, Class I, Class I-F, Class R and Class R-F shares is described in the Fund’s Prospectus 
under the section “Calculation of Net Asset Value”.  A copy of the Fund’s Prospectus can be obtained by calling 1-866-261-5686, 
visiting the Fund’s website at www.goldenopportunities.ca, by writing to the Fund at Suite 830, 410 – 22nd Street East, Saskatoon, SK, 
S7K 5T6 or by visiting SEDAR’s website at www.sedar.com.

Financial Reserves
The Fund has developed a Liquid Reserve Policy to maintain available reserves to meet the financial obligations or potential obligations 
of the Fund.  The reserves of the Fund will be invested in eligible investment instruments with the objectives of maintaining the principal 
balance and earning a sufficient return on investment that is commensurate with the risk taken.  All liquid reserves will be invested as 
per the terms of all governing legislation and applicable national instruments as well as the Tax Credit Trust Agreement between the 
Fund, the Government of Saskatchewan and Concentra Trust.  The Liquid Reserve Policy establishes guidelines for the quality of the 
investments made as well as the amount to be maintained on reserve.  The Fund reviews its Liquid Reserve Policy on an annual basis 
and implements changes as required.   

For the year ended August 31, 2017, the Fund has complied with its Liquid Reserve Policy.    

Investment Policy
The Fund plans to make investments in small- and medium-sized Saskatchewan eligible businesses and Manitoba eligible business 
entities, with the objective of achieving long-term capital appreciation.  The Saskatchewan share capital raised is invested as per the 
Saskatchewan Act and the Manitoba share capital raised is invested as per the Manitoba Act.  The Fund will not invest more than 10% 
of the net assets of the Class A Fund, the Class I Fund or the Class R Fund, as taken at market value at the time of such investment, in any 
one eligible business or eligible business entity, other than where the securities are issued or guaranteed by the Government of Canada, 
the Government of any Province or Territory in Canada or the Government of the United States of America. 

With the proceeds raised from the issuance of the Class A and Class A-F shares, the Fund will invest in a range of businesses from a 
broad cross-section of the economy that may include, among others, eligible businesses and eligible business entities involved in the 
biotechnology, renewable energy, technology, oil and gas, agriculture, services and manufacturing sectors of the economy to the extent 
permitted by the Saskatchewan Act in the case of Saskatchewan share capital raised and to the extent permitted by the Manitoba Act in 
the case of Manitoba share capital raised.

With the proceeds raised from the issuance of the Class I and Class I-F shares, the Fund will invest in a portfolio of innovation companies, 
which may include sectors such as information and communication technology, life sciences, biotechnology, industrial biotechnology, 
clean technology, energy technology, value-added agriculture, and advanced manufacturing rather than a broad cross-section of the 
economy as is the case with the proceeds from the issuance of the Class A and Class A-F shares.

With the proceeds raised from the issuance of the Class R and Class R-F shares, the Fund will seek to invest in businesses in the energy, 
mining and/or related resource services sector, to the extent permitted by the Saskatchewan Act.

A full description of the Fund’s Investment Policy is contained in the Fund’s Prospectus under the sections “Investment Objectives”, 
“Investment Strategies”, “Overview Of The Sectors That The Fund Invests In”, and “Investment Restrictions”.  A copy of the Fund’s 
Prospectus can be obtained by calling 1-866-261-5686, visiting the Fund’s website at www.goldenopportunities.ca, by writing to the 
Fund at Suite 830, 410 – 22nd Street East, Saskatoon, SK, S7K 5T6 or by visiting SEDAR’s website at www.sedar.com.  
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Golden Opportunities Fund Inc.
Financial Statements
For the year ended august 31, 2017
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Management’s Responsibility  
for Financial Reporting

To the Shareholders of Golden Opportunities Fund Inc.

The financial statements are the responsibility of management and have been approved by the Board of Directors. 

The financial statements have been prepared by management based on the information available to October 26, 2017 and are 
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and reflect management’s best estimates and judgments.

Management has established systems of internal controls which are designed to provide reasonable assurance that assets 
are safeguarded from loss or unauthorized use, and to produce reliable accounting records for the preparation of financial 
information.  

The Board of Directors discharges its duties relating to the financial statements primarily through the activities of its Audit and 
Valuation Committees, which are composed of members of the Board of Directors. The Valuation Committee has a responsibility 
for approving the value of the Fund’s assets, the net asset value of the Fund and the net asset value of the Class A, Class A-F,  
Class I, Class I-F, Class R, and Class R-F Shares of the Fund at August 31, 2017, as determined by management. 

The Audit Committee meets with management to ensure that management is performing responsibly to maintain financial 
controls and systems, and to review the financial statements of the Fund. The Audit Committee also meets with the 
independent auditors to discuss the audit approach, the review of internal account controls and the results of their examination, 
prior to submitting the financial statements to the Board of Directors and recommending their approval by the shareholders 
and the engagement or re-appointment of the external auditors.  

The financial statements have been audited by Ernst & Young LLP, Chartered Accountants. The auditors’ report outlines the 
scope of their audits and their opinion on the financial statements. 

October 26, 2017

Grant Kook      Douglas W. Banzet 
President, CEO & Director     CFO & Director
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Independent Auditors’ Report

To the Shareholders of Golden Opportunities Fund Inc. Class A Shares,  
Golden Opportunities Fund Inc. Class I Shares and Golden Opportunities  
Fund Inc. Class R Shares (collectively referred to as the “Funds”)

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of each of the Funds, which comprise the statements of financial 
position as at August 31, 2017 and 2016, and the statements of comprehensive income, changes in net assets attributable to 
holders of redeemable shares and cash flows for the years then ended and a summary of significant accounts policies and other 
explanatory information.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits in 
accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with ethical 
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free 
from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. 
The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of 
the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors consider internal control 
relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal 
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion.

Opinion 

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of each of the Funds as at 
August 31, 2017 and 2016 and the results of each of their financial performance and cash flows for the years then ended in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.   

SASKATOON, SASKATCHEWAN       Chartered Professional Accountants

October 26, 2017

 

 
 
 
 
 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT 

 
To the Shareholders of Golden Opportunities Fund Inc. Class A Shares, Golden Opportunities Fund Inc. Class I 
Shares and Golden Opportunities Fund Inc. Class R Shares (collectively referred to as the “Funds”) 

 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of each of the Funds, which comprise the statement of 
investment portfolio as at August 31, 2015, the statement of net assets as at August 31, 2015, August 31, 2014, and 
September 1, 2013, and the statements of operations, changes in net assets and cash flows for the years ended 
August 31, 2015 and August 31, 2014, and a summary of significant accounts policies and other explanatory 
information. 
 
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements  
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to 
enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
Auditors' Responsibility  
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our 
audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply 
with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 
statements are free from material misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors' judgment, including the assessment of the risks of 
material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, 
the auditors consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the 
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, 
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinion. 
 
Opinion  
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of each of the 
Funds as at August 31, 2015, August 31, 2014, and September 1, 2013, and the results of each of their operations 
and their cash flows for the years ended August 31, 2015 and August 31, 2014 in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards.   
 

 

SASKATOON, SASKATCHEWAN 

October 26, 2015 
 

                          Chartered Professional Accountants 
	  

	  

 

 
 
 
 
 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT 

 
To the Shareholders of Golden Opportunities Fund Inc. Class A Shares, Golden Opportunities Fund Inc. Class I 
Shares and Golden Opportunities Fund Inc. Class R Shares (collectively referred to as the “Funds”) 

 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of each of the Funds, which comprise the statement of 
investment portfolio as at August 31, 2015, the statement of net assets as at August 31, 2015, August 31, 2014, and 
September 1, 2013, and the statements of operations, changes in net assets and cash flows for the years ended 
August 31, 2015 and August 31, 2014, and a summary of significant accounts policies and other explanatory 
information. 
 
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements  
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to 
enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
Auditors' Responsibility  
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our 
audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply 
with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 
statements are free from material misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors' judgment, including the assessment of the risks of 
material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, 
the auditors consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the 
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, 
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinion. 
 
Opinion  
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of each of the 
Funds as at August 31, 2015, August 31, 2014, and September 1, 2013, and the results of each of their operations 
and their cash flows for the years ended August 31, 2015 and August 31, 2014 in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards.   
 

 

SASKATOON, SASKATCHEWAN 

October 26, 2015 
 

                          Chartered Professional Accountants 
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stateMeNts oF FINaNCIal PosItIoN 
as at august 31

(in thousands of Canadian dollars except number of shares and per share amounts)

2017 2016
Class A Class I Class R Total Class A Class I Class R Total

ASSETS
Cash  $ 15,577  $ 2,100  $ 897  $ 18,574  $ 27,075  $ 1,913  $ 1,152  $ 30,140 
Short-term investments  15,236  18,861  4,396  38,493  16,400  16,259  3,580  36,239 
Subscriptions receivable  -   -    -   -    22  10  15  47 
Interest and other receivables  3,663  172  9  3,844  3,710  243  13  3,966 
Venture investments (Note 5)  233,836  13,451  3,123  250,410  214,698  10,125  2,750  227,573 

 268,312  34,584  8,425  311,321  261,905  28,550  7,510  297,965 
LIABILITIES
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  2,505  298  101  2,904  2,433  263  91  2,787 
Redemptions payable  -   -    -   -    79  -   -    79 
Loss support program contributions and advances  
   (Note 6) -    2,859 -    2,859 -    2,804 -    2,804
Incentive participation amount payable -   -  -   -   336  91 -    427 
Contingent incentive participation amount (Note 9(f ))  20,417  1,423 -    21,840  18,587  746 -    19,333

 22,922  4,580  101  27,603  21,435  3,904  91  25,430 
Total net assets attributable to holders of  
   redeemable shares  $ 245,390  $ 30,004  $ 8,324  $ 283,718  $ 240,470  $ 24,646  $ 7,419  $ 272,535 

Net assets attributable to holders of  
   redeemable shares
     Class A  $ 243,531  $ 240,217 
     Class A-F  1,859  253 
     Class I  $ 29,900  $ 24,644 
     Class I-F  104  2 
     Class R  $ 8,315  $ 7,417 
     Class R-F  9  2 

 $ 245,390  $ 30,004 $ 8,324  $ 240,470  $ 24,646  $ 7,419 

Number of redeemable shares outstanding (Note 7)

     Class A  17,106,601 17,372,851 
     Class A-F  123,306  18,047 
     Class I  2,583,726  2,267,259 
     Class I-F  8,319  187 
     Class R 980,641  858,747 
     Class R-F  920  175 

Net assets attributable to holders of redeemable  
   shares per share (Note 8)
     Class A  $ 14.24  $ 13.83 
     Class A-F  15.08  14.03 
     Class I  $ 11.57  $ 10.87 
     Class I-F  12.49  11.13 
     Class R  $ 8.48  $ 8.64 
     Class R-F  9.09  8.87 

Commitments (Note 16)

Approved by the Board

_________________________________ Vice Chairman  _____________________________ Director

Brian Barber  Douglas W. Banzet

See accompanying notes.
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stateMeNts oF CoMPreheNsIVe INCoMe
Years ended august 31

(in thousands of Canadian dollars except per share amounts)

2017 2016
Class A Class I Class R Total Class A Class I Class R Total

Income

Partnership income  $ 6,529  $ 356  $ -    $ 6,885  $ 9,820  $ 364  $ -    $ 10,184 
Interest income for distribution purposes  1,631  290  33  1,954  1,568  587  35  2,190 
Dividend income  472  -    -    472  1,326  -    -    1,326 
Other income  40  1  -    41  81  10  2  93 
(Decrease) increase in unrealized loss recovery
    (Note 6)  -    (55)  -    (55)  -    252  -    252 

Other changes in fair value of venture investments
   Net realized (loss) gain  (3,429)  (160)  -    (3,589)  (8,109)  -    144  (7,965)
   Net increase (decrease) in unrealized
          appreciation of venture investments  15,847  3,164  223  19,234  (20,964)  558  (1,450)  (21,856)

 21,090  3,596  256  24,942  (16,278)  1,771  (1,269)  (15,776)
Expenses
Administration fees  663  71  26  760  701  48  18  767 
Audit fees  115  11  4  130  98  7  3  108 
Custodian fees  132  19  11  162  131  17  10  158 
Directors’ fees and expenses  26  2  1  29  33  2  1  36 
Incentive participation amount (Note 9(f ))  190  3  -    193  1,404  91  87  1,582 
Increase (decrease) in contingent incentive  
     participation amount   1,830  677  -    2,507  (3,111)  139  (259)  (3,231)
Independent review committee fees  3  -    -    3  3  -    -    3 
Legal fees  23  3  1  27  89  2  1  92 
Management fees (Note 9(a))  6,522  722  209  7,453  6,760  598  197  7,555 
Marketing service fees  227  49  11  287  274  34  15  323 
Office expenses  41  4  1  46  65  2  -    67 
Other expenses  156  12  4  172  153  8  1  162 
Percentage based payments (Note 9(b))  2,157  249  90  2,496  2,187  216  81  2,484 
Share issue costs  427  29  11  467  307  16  6  329 
Shareholder reporting costs  119  16  6  141  167  2  1  170 
Trailing commissions (Note 9(c))  1,138  139  40  1,317  1,281  114  40  1,435 
Transaction costs  2  -    -    2  25  -    2  27 

 13,771  2,006  415  16,192  10,567  1,296  204  12,067 
Total increase (decrease) in net assets  
     attributable to holders of redeemable  
     shares from operations  $ 7,319  $ 1,590  $ (159)  $ 8,750  $ (26,845)  $ 475  $ (1,473) $ (27,843)
Increase (decrease) in net assets attributable  
     to holders of redeemable shares from  
     operations 
     Class A  $ 7,325  $ (26,830)
     Class A-F  (6)  (15)
     Class I  $ 1,587  $ 475 
     Class I-F  3  -   
     Class R  $ (159)  $ (1,473)
     Class R-F  -    -   

 $ 7,319  $ 1,590  $ (159)  $ (26,845)  $ 475  $ (1,473)

Increase (decrease) in net assets  
     attributable to holders of redeemable  
     shares from operations per share 
     Class A  $ 0.42  $ (1.55)
     Class A-F  (0.07)  (1.19)
     Class I  $ 0.65  $ 0.22 
     Class I-F  $ 0.67  0.49 
     Class R  $ (0.17)  $ (1.88)
     Class R-F  $ 0.04  (0.64)

 

See accompanying notes.
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stateMeNts oF ChaNges IN Net assets  
attrIBUtaBle to holders oF redeeMaBle shares
Years ended august 31

(in thousands of Canadian dollars)

2017

Class A Class A-F Class I Class I-F Class R Class R-F Total

Net assets attributable to holders  
    of redeemable shares,  
    beginning of year  $ 240,217  $ 253  $ 24,644  $ 2  $ 7,417  $ 2  $ 272,535 

Increase (decrease) in net assets  
     attributable to holders of redeemable  
     shares from operations  7,325  (6)  1,587  3  (159)  -    8,750 

Redeemable share transactions 

     Issue of redeemable shares  22,436  1,612  4,802  99  1,098  7  30,054 

     Redemption of redeemable shares  (26,447)  -    (1,133)  -    (41)  -    (27,621)

Net (decrease) increase from        
     redeemable share transactions  (4,011)  1,612  3,669  99  1,057  7  2,433 

Net assets attributable to holders  
     of redeemable shares,  
     end of year  $ 243,531  $ 1,859  $ 29,900  $ 104  $ 8,315  $ 9  $ 283,718 

2016

Class A Class A-F Class I Class I-F Class R Class R-F Total

Net assets attributable to holders  
    of redeemable shares,  
    beginning of year  $ 264,145  $ -    $ 20,835  $ -    $ 7,400  $ -    $ 292,380 

(Decrease) increase in net assets  
     attributable to holders of redeemable  
     shares from operations  (26,830)  (15)  475  -    (1,473)  -    (27,843)

Redeemable share transactions 

     Issue of redeemable shares  28,036  268  3,483  2  1,535  2  33,326 

     Redemption of redeemable shares  (25,134)  -    (149)  -    (45)  -    (25,328)

Net increase from redeemable share  
     transactions  2,902  268  3,334  2  1,490  2  7,998 

Net assets attributable to holders  
     of redeemable shares,  
     end of year  $ 240,217  $ 253  $ 24,644  $ 2  $ 7,417  $ 2  $ 272,535 

See accompanying notes.
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stateMeNts oF Cash FloWs
Years ended august 31

(in thousands of Canadian dollars)

2017 2016

Class A Class I Class R Total Class A Class I Class R Total

Cash flows (used in) from operating  
     activities

Increase (decrease) in net assets  
     attributable to holders of redeemable  
     shares from operations  $ 7,319  $ 1,590  $ (159)  $ 8,750  $ (26,845)  $ 475  $ (1,473)  $ (27,843)

Adjustments for non-cash items:

    Partnership income  (6,529)  (356)  -    (6,885)  (9,820)  (364)  -    (10,184)

     Net realized loss (gain) on disposition of  
          venture investments  3,429  160  -    3,589  8,109  -    (144)  7,965 

Net (increase) decrease in unrealized  
     appreciation of venture investments  (15,847)  (3,164)  (223)  (19,234)  20,964  (558)  1,450  21,856 

Venture investments purchased  (11,822)  (80)  (150)  (12,052)  (15,834)  (2,112)  (892)  (18,838)

Venture investments repaid  3,678  -    -    3,678  4,899  1,146  -    6,045 

Partnership distributions  7,853  114  -    7,967  11,762  340  -    12,102 

Proceeds on disposition of venture  
     investments  100  -    -    100  9,492  -    714  10,206 

Purchase of short-term investments  (18,886)  (58,703)  (12,219)  (89,808)  (26,276)  (54,534)  (8,204)  (89,014)

Maturity of short-term investments  20,050  56,101  11,403  87,554  29,675  50,671  6,712  87,058 

Net change in non-cash balances (Note 10)  1,613  747  14  2,374  (3,804)  125  (252)  (3,931)

    (9,042)  (3,591)  (1,334)  (13,967)  2,322  (4,811)  (2,089)  (4,578)

Cash flows (used in) from financing  
     activities

  

Proceeds from issue of redeemable shares  24,070  4,911  1,120  30,101  28,384  3,485  1,532  33,401 

Amounts paid on redemption of   
    redeemable shares  (26,526)  (1,133)  (41)  (27,700)  (25,197)  (151)  (50)  (25,398)

 (2,456)  3,778  1,079  2,401  3,187  3,334  1,482  8,003 

Net (decrease) increase in cash   (11,498)  187  (255)  (11,566)  5,509  (1,477)  (607)  3,425 

Cash, beginning of year  27,075  1,913  1,152  30,140  21,566  3,390  1,759  26,715 

Cash, end of year  $ 15,577  $ 2,100  $ 897  $ 18,574  $ 27,075  $ 1,913  $1,152  $30,140 

Supplemental cash flow information

Interest received  $ 485  $ 209  $ 37  $ 731  $ 1,331  $ 696  $ 27  $ 2,054 

Dividends received  512  -    -    512  1,282  -    -    1,282 

Non-cash transactions (Notes 5(a) and 5(c))

See accompanying notes.

 33

 
G

ol
de

n 
O

pp
or

tu
ni

tie
s F

un
d 

In
c.

  | 
 2

01
7 

an
nu

al
 r

ep
or

t



sChedUle oF INVestMeNt PortFolIo – Class a
as at august 31, 2017
(in thousands of Canadian dollars except par value/number of units)

Short-term investments

Par Value/ 
Number Issuer and         
of Units Description of Security Maturity Date   Cost  Fair Value 

 Conexus Credit Union,  
4,459,000        1.30% term deposit September 9, 2017  $ 4,459 $ 4,459

 Conexus Credit Union,    
1,600,000        1.30% term deposit December 6, 2017   1,600  1,600

 Affinity Credit Union,    
3,100,000        1.10% term deposit February 28, 2018   3,100  3,100

 Affinity Credit Union,    
1,400,000        1.10% term deposit March 7, 2018   1,400  1,400

 Conexus Credit Union,    
2,800,000        1.30% term deposit March 15, 2018   2,800  2,800

 Affinity Credit Union,    
1,600,000        1.10% term deposit April 13, 2018   1,600  1,600

 Conexus Credit Union,    
277,000        1.30% term deposit May 19, 2018   277  277

    

Short-term investments (6.21%)*     $    15,236 $ 15,236

 

Venture investments

Par Value/ 
Number Issuer and         
of Units Description of Security Expiry/Maturity Date     Cost 

 Avalon Oil & Gas Ltd.,   
7,332,486        class A common shares      $      6,365 
35,754        stock options, exercisable at $0.80 per share April 21, 2022     -

 Burgess Creek Exploration Inc.,   
668,700        class A common shares      669 
631,300        special voting shares      -

 CanniMed Therapeutics Inc.,   
3,511,156        common shares      4,225 
6,096        stock options, exercisable at $1.68 per share October 31, 2018     - 
4,915        stock options, exercisable at $4.68 per share October 31, 2018     - 
4,272        warrants, exercisable at $5.50 per share December 15, 2018     -

 Can Pro Capital Corp.,   
3,800        class A common shares      4 
3,329,838        0% debenture March 4, 2018     3,330

 Can Pro Ingredients Ltd.,   
19,117,629,955        class A common shares      7,257

 Connect Energy Holdings Ltd.,   
90        class A common shares      -
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sChedUle oF INVestMeNt PortFolIo – Class a
as at august 31, 2017
(in thousands of Canadian dollars except par value/number of units)

Venture investments (continued)

Par Value/ 
Number Issuer and         
of Units Description of Security Expiry/Maturity Date     Cost

 Credence Resources Inc.,   
1        class A common share      - 
100,000        class B common shares      100

 Credence Resources LP,   
1        series 2A limited partnership unit      - 
1        series 2B limited partnership unit      - 
1        series 4A limited partnership unit      - 
1        series 5A limited partnership unit      - 
1        series 5B limited partnership unit      - 
1        series 5D limited partnership unit      - 
1        series 6A limited partnership unit      - 
1        series 7A limited partnership unit      - 
14,633,169        variable rate participating loan      14,633

 Credence Resources II Inc.,   
1        class A common share      - 
100,000        class B common shares      100

 Credence Resources II LP,   
1        series 2A limited partnership unit      - 
1        series 4A limited partnership unit      - 
1        series 5A limited partnership unit      - 
10,779,843        variable rate participating loan      10,780

 Dyna Holdings GP Inc.,   
50        class A common shares      -

 Dyna Holdings LP,   
10,675,971        limited partnership units      11,398

 Field Exploration Inc.,   
1        class A common share      - 
100,000        class B common shares      100

 Field Exploration LP,   
1        series 2A limited partnership unit      - 
1        series 2B limited partnership unit      - 
1        series 2C limited partnership unit      - 
1        series 3A limited partnership unit      - 
1        series 3B limited partnership unit      - 
10,036,730        variable rate participating loan      10,037

 Fort Garry Brewing Company GP Inc.,   
666        common shares      -

 Fort Garry Brewing Company LP,   
3,982,674        limited partnership units      3,586

 G5 Energy LP,    
2,000,000        class B units      920
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sChedUle oF INVestMeNt PortFolIo – Class a
as at august 31, 2017
(in thousands of Canadian dollars except par value/number of units)

Venture investments (continued)

Par Value/ 
Number Issuer and         
of Units Description of Security Expiry/Maturity Date     Cost

 GOF Care Homes Inc.,   
25,000        0% demand promissory note      25 
100        class A common shares      -

 Golden Health Care Inc.,   
441,751        class A common shares      442 
690,000        class E preferred shares      690 
2,785,000        class F preferred shares      2,785 
1,344,501        class G preferred shares      167 
3,155,499        class H preferred shares      725 
144,000        class I preferred shares      144 
1,056,000        class J preferred shares      1,056 
234        class K preferred shares      - 
3,697,200        class L preferred shares      3,604 
1,550,000        class N preferred shares      1,550 
6,156,000        class O preferred shares      6,156 
46        class P preferred shares      -

 H.J.R. Asphalt GP Inc.,   
32        class A common shares      -

 H.J.R. Asphalt LP,   
10,528,000        limited partnership units      9,809

 Jump.ca Wireless Supply Corp.,   
703,241        class B preferred shares      1,974

 Lex Energy Partners LP,   
5,338        limited partnership units      2,284

 Lex Energy Partners LP II,   
1,307        limited partnership units      758

 Librestream Technologies Inc.,   
186,336        series B preferred shares      120

 MATRRIX Energy Technologies Inc.,   
2,000,000        common shares      2,000

 Med-Life Discoveries GP Inc.,   
48        common shares      - 
47,702        0% demand promissory note      48

 Med-Life Discoveries LP,   
6,195,563        limited partnership units      3,243 
2,286,692        11% demand promissory notes      2,287 
238,249        15% demand promissory note      238

 NorAmera Properties Inc.,   
446,250        class A common shares      721

 Performance Plants Inc.,   
4,508,118        common shares      4,518
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sChedUle oF INVestMeNt PortFolIo – Class a
as at august 31, 2017
(in thousands of Canadian dollars except par value/number of units)

Venture investments (continued)

Par Value/ 
Number Issuer and         
of Units Description of Security Expiry/Maturity Date     Cost 

 PM Power Group Holdings Ltd.,   
877,789        common shares      1,939

 Prairie Meats Inc.,   
78        class A common shares      -

 Prairie Meats LP,   
7,263,750        limited partnership units      7,246

 Rite Way Mfg. Co. Ltd.,   
2,854,238        class A common shares      -

 Safety Seven Manufacturing Inc.,   
100,000        class A common shares      - 
20,000        class C preferred shares      200 
459,149        non-interest bearing demand promissory note      459

 Solido Design Automation Inc.,   
1,437,436        class A convertible preferred shares      41 
7,105,903        class B convertible preferred shares      2,094 
1,395,827        class C convertible preferred shares      413

 SuperiorFarms Solutions LP,    
2,854,238        limited partnership units      7,110

 SuperiorRoads Solutions Inc.,   
435,762        class A common shares      -

 SuperiorRoads Solutions LP,   
435,762        limited partnership units      -

 Terra Grain Fuels Inc.,    
4,214        common shares (through 
           101247441 Saskatchewan Ltd.)      - 
5,056,417           12% debenture January 1, 2020     5,056

 Villanova 4 Oil Corp.,    
8,760,756        common shares      7,029 
2,500,000        warrants, exercisable at $0.50 per share April 7, 2018     87

 Warman Home Centre Inc.,   
41        class A common shares      -

 Warman Home Centre LP,   
13,785,429        class A limited partnership units      19,639

 Western Building Centres Limited,   
7,462,285        class A common shares      47 
5,451,383        class F preferred shares      5,451 
4,750,000        class G preferred shares      4,750 
1,069,605        15% promissory note June 1, 2018     1,070
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sChedUle oF INVestMeNt PortFolIo – Class a
as at august 31, 2017
(in thousands of Canadian dollars except par value/number of units)

Venture investments (continued)

Par Value/ 
Number Issuer and         
of Units Description of Security Expiry/Maturity Date     Cost 

 West Mountain Environmental Corp.,   
12,917,333        common shares      3,660 
100,000        stock options, exercisable at $0.27 per share February 16, 2019     - 
100,000        stock options, exercisable at $0.12 per share  September 3, 2020     -

 WestMan Exploration Ltd.,    
800,000        common shares      800

Venture investments at cost (75.77%)*          $  185,939  
Unrealized appreciation of venture investments            47,897

 
Venture investments at fair value  (95.29%)*     $  233,836

*Percentages shown relate amounts to total net assets attributable  
          to holders of redeemable shares of the Class A Fund.
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sChedUle oF INVestMeNt PortFolIo – Class a
as at august 31, 2017
(in thousands of Canadian dollars except par value/number of units)

Venture portfolio breakdown

Industry Sector Number of  
Investees

Cost Fair Value % of Cost % of Fair 
Value

Services 7 $  41,788 $  54,984 22.47% 23.51%

Oil & Gas 14 56,663 40,291 30.47% 17.23%

Biotechnology 4 14,559 39,088 7.83% 16.72%

Value Added Manufacturing 9 29,758 35,634 16.00% 15.24%

Healthcare 2 17,344 26,167 9.33% 11.19%

Technology 3 4,642 13,686 2.50% 5.85%

Infrastructure 2 9,809 10,591 5.28% 4.53%

Renewable energy 1 5,056 7,016 2.72% 3.00%

Energy Services 2 1,939 5,658 1.04% 2.42%

Other 2 4,381 721 2.36% 0.31%

46 $ 185,939 $  233,836 100.00% 100.00%

Stage of Development Number of  
Investees

Cost Fair Value % of Cost % of Fair 
Value

Start-up 9 $   33,578 $   35,335 18.06% 15.11%

Growth 24 103,711 142,640 55.78% 61.00%

Mature 13 48,650 55,861 26.16% 23.89%

46 $   185,939 $   233,836 100.00% 100.00%

See accompanying notes to the financial statements. 
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sChedUle oF INVestMeNt PortFolIo – Class I
as at august 31, 2017
(in thousands of Canadian dollars except par value/number of units)

Short-term investments

Par Value/ 
Number Issuer and         
of Units Description of Security Maturity Date   Cost  Fair Value

 Manulife Bank of Canada,    
421,928        0.97% bankers discount note September 5, 2017 $ 420 $ 420

 Affinity Credit Union,    
200,000        1.15% term deposit September 9, 2017  200  200

 Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce,    
2,800,000        0.92% bankers acceptance September 11, 2017  2,799  2,799

 Bank of Nova Scotia,    
2,800,000        0.92% bankers acceptance September 15, 2017  2,799  2,799

 Citibank Canada,    
2,800,000        1.08% bankers acceptance September 25, 2017  2,798  2,798

 Bank of Montreal,    
2,800,000        1.14% bankers acceptance October 24, 2017   2,795  2,795

 Affinity Credit Union,    
200,000        1.15% term deposit December 4, 2017   200  200

 Affinity Credit Union,    
150,000        1.49% term deposit December 21, 2017  150  150

 Royal Bank of Canada,    
2,800,000        1.31% bankers acceptance February 20, 2018   2,782  2,782

 Affinity Credit Union,    
543,350        1.60% term deposit February 28, 2018   543  543

 Affinity Credit Union,    
250,000        1.10% term deposit February 28, 2018   250  250

 Conexus Credit Union,    
425,000        1.30% term deposit March 15, 2018   425  425

 Affinity Credit Union,    
350,000        1.10% term deposit March 16, 2018   350  350

 Conexus Credit Union,    
250,000        1.30% term deposit April 13, 2018   250  250

 Affinity Credit Union,    
1,100,000        1.80% term deposit April 29, 2018   1,100  1,100

 Conexus Credit Union,    
1,000,000        1.40% term deposit July 18, 2018   1,000  1,000

  

Short-term investments (62.86%)**      $    18,861  $ 18,861 
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sChedUle oF INVestMeNt PortFolIo – Class I
as at august 31, 2017
(in thousands of Canadian dollars except par value/number of units)

Venture investments

Par Value/ 
Number Issuer and         
of Units Description of Security Expiry/Maturity Date    Cost 

 CanniMed Therapeutics Inc.   
467,512        common shares     $ 1,242 
1,104        stock options, exercisable at $1.68 per share October 31, 2018     - 
417        stock options, exercisable at $4.68 per share October 31, 2018     - 
24,820        warrants, exercisable at $5.50 per share December 15, 2018     -

 Dyna Holdings LP,   
1,903,805        limited partnership units        2,032

 Librestream Technologies Inc.,   
590,062        series B convertible preferred shares       380

 MATRRIX Energy Technologies Inc.,   
400,000        common shares        400

 Med-Life Discoveries GP Inc.,    
2        class A common shares       - 
2,248        0% demand promissory note       2

 Med-Life Discoveries LP,   
291,938        limited partnership units       153 
1,013,904        11% demand promissory notes       1,014 
114,243        15% demand promissory note       114

 PM Power Group Holdings Ltd.,   
116,878        common shares         258

 Rite Way Mfg. Co. Ltd.,   
485,828        common shares       -

 Solido Design Automation Inc.,   
458,476        class A preferred shares       13 
639,139        class B preferred shares       30 
2,142,534        class C preferred shares         684

 SuperiorFarms Solutions LP,  
485,828        limited partnership units       1,215

 SuperiorRoads Solutions Inc.,   
74,172        common shares       -

 SuperiorRoads Solutions LP,  
74,172        limited partnership units       -

 West Mountain Environmental Corp.,   
300,000        10% convertible demand debenture       300

Venture investments at cost (26.12%)**          $  7,837   
Unrealized appreciation of venture investments             5,614  

 
Venture investments at fair value (44.83%)**     $   13,451 
**Percentages shown relate amounts to total net assets attributable  
   to holders of redeemable shares of the Class I Fund.
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sChedUle oF INVestMeNt PortFolIo – Class I
as at august 31, 2017
(in thousands of Canadian dollars except par value/number of units)

Venture portfolio breakdown

Industry Sector Number of  
Investees

Cost Fair Value % of Cost % of Fair 
Value

Biotechnology 3 $  2,525 $  5,772 32.22% 42.91%

Value Added Manufacturing 5 3,247 4,295 41.43% 31.93%

Technology 2 1,107 2,966 14.13% 22.05%

Environmental 1 300 - 3.83% -

Energy Services 1 258 258 3.29% 1.92%

Oil & Gas 1 400 160 5.10% 1.19%

13 $  7,837 $  13,451 100.00% 100.00%

Stage of Development Number of  
Investees

Cost Fair Value % of Cost % of Fair 
Value

Start-up 3 $ 1,283 $ 1,270 16.37% 9.44%

Growth 8 4,264 9,284 54.41% 69.02%

Mature 2 2,290 2,897 29.22% 21.54%

13 $ 7,837 $ 13,451 100.00% 100.00%

See accompanying notes to the financial statements. 
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sChedUle oF INVestMeNt PortFolIo – Class r
as at august 31, 2017
(in thousands of Canadian dollars except par value/number of units)

Short-term investments

Par Value/ 
Number Issuer and         
of Units Description of Security Maturity Date   Cost  Fair Value 

 Manulife Bank of Canada,    
93,072        0.97% bankers discount note September 5, 2017 $ 93 $ 93

 Canadian Western Bank,    
261,000        0.89% bankers acceptance September 5, 2017  260  260

 Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce,    
800,000        0.92% bankers acceptance September 11, 2017  800  800

 Bank of Nova Scotia,    
700,000        0.92% bankers acceptance September 15, 2017  700  700

 Bank of Montreal,    
700,000        1.14% bankers acceptance October 24, 2017   699  699

 Affinity Credit Union,    
210,000        1.15% term deposit December 4, 2017   210  210

 Royal Bank of Canada,    
750,000        1.31% bankers acceptance February 20, 2018   744  744

 Affinity Credit Union,    
110,000        1.60% term deposit February 28, 2018   110  110

 Affinity Credit Union,    
200,000        1.10% term deposit February 28, 2018   200  200

 Affinity Credit Union,    
190,000        1.10% term deposit March 7, 2018   190  190

 Conexus Credit Union,    
120,000        1.30% term deposit April 13, 2018   120  120

 Affinity Credit Union,    
120,000        1.10% term deposit April 13, 2018   120  120

 Conexus Credit Union,    
150,000        1.40% term deposit July 18, 2018   150  150

 
Short-term investments (52.81%)***     $     4,396        $  4,396 
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Venture portfolio breakdown (1)

Stage of Development Number of  
Investees

Cost Fair Value % of Cost % of Fair 
Value

Start-up 3 $ 1,028 $ 1,182 31.24% 37.85%

Growth 4 2,263  1,941 68.76% 62.15%

7 $ 3,291 $ 3,123 100.00% 100.00%

sChedUle oF INVestMeNt PortFolIo – Class r
as at august 31, 2017
(in thousands of Canadian dollars except par value/number of units)

Venture investments

Par Value/ 
Number Issuer and         
of Units Description of Security Expiry/Maturity Date     Cost 

 Avalon Oil & Gas Ltd.,   
357,993        class A common shares      $ 311 
1,746        stock options, exercisable at $0.80 per share April 21, 2022      -

 Burgess Creek Exploration Inc.,  
360,069        class A common shares       360 
339,931        special voting shares       -

 Credence Resources LP,  
1        series 5C limited partnership unit       - 
1        series 5E limited partnership unit       - 
479,862        variable rate participating loan        480

 Credence Resources II LP,  
1        series 2B limited partnership unit       - 
1        series 3A limited partnership unit       - 
1        series 4B limited partnership unit       - 
1        series 5B limited partnership unit       - 
668,501        variable rate participating loan        668

 Field Exploration LP,   
1        series 2D limited partnership unit       - 
1        series 3C limited partnership unit       - 
356,853        variable rate participating loan         357

 Lex Energy Partners LP,   
400        limited partnership units        136

 Villanova 4 Oil Corp.,   
1,949,244        class A common shares        922 
1,625,000        warrants, exercisable at $0.50 per share April 7, 2018      57

Venture investments at cost (39.54%)***      $  3,291    
Unrealized depreciation of venture investments                    (168)   

 
Venture investments at fair value (37.52%)***     $   3,123    

***Percentages shown relate amounts to total net assets attributable  
      to holders of redeemable shares of the Class R Fund.

(1)  All Class R Fund venture investments are in the oil & gas industry sector. 

See accompanying notes to the financial statements. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements
august 31, 2017 
(in thousands of Canadian dollars except number of shares and per share amounts)

1. General information
Golden Opportunities Fund Inc. (the “Fund”) was incorporated under the laws of Saskatchewan by Articles of Incorporation dated December 8, 
1997. The Fund was registered as an extra-provincial corporation to carry on business under the laws of Manitoba on September 30, 2008.  The 
principal place of business of the Fund is Suite 830, 410 - 22nd Street East, Saskatoon, Saskatchewan. 

The Fund is registered as a labour sponsored venture capital corporation under The Labour-sponsored Venture Capital Corporations Act 
(Saskatchewan) (the “Saskatchewan Act”) and The Labour-Sponsored Venture Capital Corporations Act (Manitoba) (the “Manitoba Act”).  The Fund 
is taxable as a mutual fund corporation and is a prescribed Labour sponsored Venture Capital Corporation under the Income Tax Act (Canada) 
(the “Federal Act”).  

The Fund’s redeemable shares include Class A (SK) shares, Class A-F (SK) shares, Class A (MB) shares, Class A-F (MB) shares, Class I (SK) shares, 
Class I-F (SK) shares, Class I (MB) shares, Class I-F (MB) shares, Class R (SK) shares, and Class R-F (SK) shares which are issued and redeemed at a 
continuous offering price equal to the pricing net asset value (“Pricing NAV”) per share for the applicable series.  The Fund also has Class R (MB) 
shares and Class R-F (MB) shares, which have not yet been made available for issue. The separation of shares by province is for legal purposes 
only but does not affect the net assets attributable to holders of redeemable shares as each class of share has the same rights regardless of the 
province they are issued in.   

The Federal Act and the Saskatchewan Act allow a Saskatchewan resident individual to invest in Class A (SK) shares, Class A-F (SK) shares, Class 
I (SK) shares, Class I-F (SK) shares, Class R (SK) shares, or Class R-F (SK) shares of the Fund and obtain a personal income tax credit.  The Federal 
Act and the Manitoba Act allow a Manitoba resident individual to invest in Class A (MB) shares, Class A-F (MB) shares, Class I (MB) shares, or 
Class I-F (MB) shares of the Fund and obtain a personal income tax credit.  

In these financial statements, the “Class A Fund” includes the Class A (SK) and Class A (MB) shares (together, the “Class A Shares”), and the Class 
A-F (SK) and Class A-F (MB) shares (together, the “Class A-F Shares”).  The “Class I Fund” includes the Class I (SK) and Class I (MB) shares (together, 
the “Class I Shares”), and the Class I-F (SK) and Class I-F (MB) shares (together, the “Class I-F Shares”).  The “Class R Fund” includes the Class R (SK) 
shares (the “Class R Shares”), and the Class R-F (SK) shares (the “Class R-F Shares”).  The Class A-F Shares, Class I-F Shares and Class R-F Shares are 
collectively referred to as the “F Series”.

All of the Fund’s shares have, in all material respects, identical rights, redemption features, tax credit eligibility and other attributes, except that 
the F Series has a different commission structure. The F Series shares have no sales commissions or trailer fees.

The investment objective of the Fund is to maximize shareholder returns through the long-term appreciation of the Fund’s Pricing NAV. The 
Fund makes investments in small and medium sized eligible Saskatchewan businesses and Manitoba business entities, as defined in the 
Saskatchewan Act and the Manitoba Act, respectively, with the objective of achieving long-term capital appreciation.  The Class I Fund is 
invested in innovation companies, and the Class R Fund in resource companies, rather than a broad cross-section of the economy as is the 
case with the Class A Fund.  

The Fund has retained Westcap Mgt. Ltd., a related party, as the fund manager (the “Manager”) to manage all aspects of the Fund. The sponsor 
of the Fund is the Construction and General Workers’ Union Local 180.

2. Basis of presentation
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as published by the 
International Accounting Standards Board.  The policies applied in these financial statements are based on IFRS issued and effective as of 
October 26, 2017, the date the Fund’s Board of Directors approved the financial statements.  The financial statements have been prepared on a 
going concern basis using the historic cost convention, except for investments at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”) which are measured 
at fair value.
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies
a)   Financial instruments

The Fund recognizes financial instruments at fair value upon initial recognition, plus transaction costs in the case of financial instruments 
measured at amortized cost.  Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognized on their trade date.  The Fund’s cash, short-
term investments, and venture investments are measured at FVTPL, including certain investments which have been designated at FVTPL.  The 
Fund’s obligation for net assets attributable to holders of redeemable shares is presented at the redemption amount.  All other financial assets 
and liabilities are measured at amortized cost.  Under this method, financial assets and liabilities reflect the amount required to be received or 
paid, discounted, when appropriate, at the contract’s effective interest rate.  

Interest income for distribution purposes is recognized on an accrual basis using the stated rates of interest for short-term investments and 
debt instruments.  Dividends are recognized as income on the ex-dividend date, and operating income from partnerships is recognized as 
earned.  Investment transactions are accounted for on the trade date and realized gains or losses arising from the sale of investments are 
determined using the average cost method. 

b)   Fair value measurement

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants 
at the measurement date.  

The fair value of financial assets traded in active markets is based on quoted market prices at the close of trading on the reporting date.  The 
Fund uses the last traded market price for financial assets where the last traded price falls within that day’s bid-ask spread.  In circumstances 
where the last traded price is not within the bid-ask spread, or where no sales in a particular security have been transacted on the reporting 
date, the Manager determines the point within the bid-ask spread that is most representative of fair value based on specific facts and 
circumstances.  The Fund’s policy is to recognize transfers into and out of the fair value hierarchy levels as of the date of the event or change in 
circumstances giving rise to the transfer.

The fair value of financial assets that are not traded in an active market is determined using valuation techniques.  The Fund uses a variety of 
methods and makes assumptions that are based on market conditions existing at each valuation date.  Valuation techniques include the use 
of comparable recent arm’s length transactions, independent valuations and others commonly used by market participants and which make 
the maximum use of observable inputs.  Details regarding the valuation process of the Fund’s investments in eligible businesses are included 
in the Fund’s annual prospectus.  Refer to Note 12 for further information about the Fund’s fair value measurements and additional details 
regarding the valuation process for the Fund’s investments in eligible businesses.

c)   Cash

Cash is comprised of deposits with financial institutions.

d)   Change in net assets attributable to holders of redeemable shares per share

The increase or decrease in net assets attributable to holders of redeemable shares from operations per share is calculated by dividing the 
increase in net assets attributable to holders of redeemable shares from operations by the weighted average number of shares outstanding 
during the year.

e)   Investments in associates and subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities, including investments in other investment entities, over which the Fund has control.  The Fund controls an entity 
when it is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through 
its power over the entity.  The Fund has determined that it is an investment entity and as such, it accounts for subsidiaries at fair value with the 
exception of any subsidiaries which provide services related to the Fund’s investment activities, which are consolidated.  The Fund currently 
does not have any subsidiaries that are consolidated.  Associates are investments over which the Fund has significant influence or joint control, 
all of which have been designated at FVTPL.
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
e)    Investments in associates and subsidiaries (continued)

The Fund’s interests in unconsolidated subsidiaries and associates are as follows:

2017 2016

Investee Relationship
Ownership 

interest
Voting 

interest
Ownership 

interest
Voting 

interest

Can Pro Capital Corp. Subsidiary 100% 100% 100% 100%

Can Pro Ingredients Ltd. Subsidiary 82% 82% 82% 82%

Connect Energy Holdings Ltd. Subsidiary 90% 90% 90% 90%

Credence Resources Inc. Associate 50% 50% 50% 50%

Credence Resources LP Associate 100% 50% 100% 50%

Credence Resources II Inc. Associate 50% 50% 50% 50%

Credence Resources II LP Associate 100% 50% 100% 50%

Dyna Holdings GP Inc. Associate 50% 50% 50% 50%

Dyna Holdings LP Associate 50% 50% 50% 50%

Field Exploration Inc. Associate 50% 50% 50% 50%

Field Exploration LP Associate 100% 50% 100% 50%

Fort Garry Brewing Company GP Inc. Subsidiary 67% 67% - -

Fort Garry Brewing Company LP Subsidiary 67% 67% - -

GOF Care Homes Inc. Subsidiary 100% 100% 100% 100%

Golden Health Care Inc. Associate 50% 50% 50% 50%

H.J.R. Asphalt GP Inc. Associate 32% 32% 32% 32%

H.J.R. Asphalt LP Associate 32% 32% 32% 32%

Lift Petroleum Inc. Associate - - 50% 50%

Med-Life Discoveries GP Inc. Associate 50% 50% 50% 50%

Med-Life Discoveries LP Associate 50% 50% 50% 50%

NorAmera Properties Inc. Associate 25% 25% 25% 25%

PM Power Group Holdings Ltd. Associate 27% 27% - -

Prairie Meats Inc. Subsidiary 78% 78% 78% 78%

Prairie Meats LP Subsidiary 72% 72% 72% 72%

Prairie Plant Systems Inc. Associate - - 25% 25%

Python Manufacturing Inc. Associate 50% 50% 50% 50%

Rite Way Mfg. Co. Ltd. Associate 50% 50% 50% 50%

Solido Design Automation Inc. Associate 24% 24% 24% 24%

SuperiorFarms Solutions LP Associate 50% 50% 50% 50%

SuperiorRoads Solutions LP Associate 50% 50% 50% 50%

Terra Grain Fuels Inc. (through  
     101247441 Saskatchewan Ltd.) Associate 42% 42% 42% 42%

Warman Home Centre Inc. Associate 41% 41% 41% 41%

Warman Home Centre LP Associate 40% 40% 40% 40%

West Mountain Environmental Corp. Associate 24% 24% 24% 24%

Western Building Centres Ltd. Subsidiary 71% 71% 71% 71%

All investee companies have Canada as their principal place of business and country of incorporation.  Certain investee companies for 
which there is a senior lender may have restrictions on dividends and loan repayments imposed on it if the investee company is not 
within covenants imposed on it by its senior lender.
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
f)   Income and expense allocation

The subscription proceeds raised through the issue of each redeemable share is invested separately in the Class A Fund, Class I Fund or 
Class R Fund.  Net assets attributable to holders of redeemable shares, and corresponding Pricing NAVs, are calculated for the Fund’s Class 
A, Class A-F, Class I, Class I-F, Class R and Class R-F shares, respectively, and are reflected separately in these financial statements.  Income 
or losses attributable to a specific venture investment will only be reflected in either Class A Fund, Class I Fund or Class R Fund net assets 
attributable to holders of redeemable shares, as applicable.  

Costs and expenses not specifically attributable to any redeemable share class are allocated, at the time the costs and expenses are 
incurred, on the basis of the relative share capital of the Class A Fund, Class I Fund and Class R Fund as a proportion of the total share 
capital of the Fund as at the latest available weekly pricing net asset valuation.

g)   Commissions

Trailer commissions and percentage based payments are recorded on an accrual basis based on net assets attributable to holders of Class 
A Shares, Class I Shares, and Class R Shares. No trailer commissions or percentage based payments are payable on the F Series. 

h)   Accounting standards issued but not yet adopted

In July 2014, the final version of IFRS 9, “Financial Instruments” was issued by the International Accounting Standards Board, which will 
replace International Accounting Standard 39, “Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement”.  Under IFRS 9, financial assets will 
generally be measured initially at fair value plus particular transaction costs, and subsequently at either amortized cost or fair value.  An 
entity choosing to measure a financial liability at fair value will present the portion of any change in its fair value due to changes in the 
entity’s credit risk in other comprehensive income, rather than within net earnings. This standard is effective for annual periods beginning 
on or after January 1, 2018, with early adoption permitted, and is to be applied prospectively.  The Fund does not intend to early adopt this 
standard but is reviewing it to determine the potential impact, if any, on the financial statements.  

4. Critical accounting estimates and judgments
The preparation of financial statements requires management to use judgment in applying its accounting policies and to make estimates 
and assumptions about the future.  The following discusses the most significant accounting judgments and estimates that the Fund has 
made in preparing the financial statements:

a)   Qualification as an investment entity

The Fund has determined that it meets the definition of ‘investment entity’ and as a result, it measures subsidiaries, other than those which 
provide services to the Fund, at FVTPL.  Subsidiaries which provide services to the Fund are consolidated, however the Fund currently does 
not have any subsidiaries that are consolidated.  An investment entity is an entity that: obtains funds from one or more investors for the 
purpose of providing them with investment management services, commits to its investors that its business purpose is to invest funds 
solely for returns from capital appreciation, investment income, or both, and measures and evaluates the performance for substantially 
all of its investments on a fair value basis.  The most significant judgment that the Fund has made in determining that it meets this 
definition is that fair value is used as the primary measurement attribute to measure and evaluate the performance of substantially all of 
its investments.

b)   Fair value measurement of securities not quoted in an active market

The Fund holds financial instruments that are not quoted in active markets.  The methods used to determine the fair values of such 
instruments incorporate various assumptions that are based on market conditions and for which observable inputs are not generally 
available.  Significant areas requiring the use of estimates include assessments of the financial condition of investees that might indicate 
a change in value of a particular investment.  Changes in assumptions about these factors could affect the reported fair value of financial 
instruments.  Refer to Note 12 for further information about the Fund’s fair value measurements.
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5. Venture investments
During the year, venture investments changed as follows:

a)   Class A Fund   

2017 2016

Venture investments at fair value, beginning $ 214,698 $ 244,270

Venture investments purchased 11,822 26,947

Partnership income recognized 6,529 9,820

Partnership distributions (7,853) (11,762)

Venture investments repaid (3,678) (4,899)

Proceeds from disposition of venture investments (100) (20,605)

Net realized losses on disposition of venture investments (3,429) (8,109)

Net (decrease) increase in unrealized appreciation of venture investments 15,847 (20,964)

Venture investments at fair value, ending $ 233,836 $ 214,698
 
The Fund may at times receive non-cash consideration, such as shares in a publicly traded company, in the normal course of purchases 
and dispositions of venture investments.  During the year ended August 31, 2017, the Fund made non-cash purchases of Class A Fund 
venture investments of $nil (2016 - $11,113) and received non-cash proceeds of $nil (2016 - $11,113) on disposition of Class A Fund 
venture investments.

b)   Class I Fund 

2017 2016

Venture investments at fair value, beginning $ 10,125 $ 8,577

Venture investments purchased 80 3,226

Partnership income recognized 356 364

Partnership distributions (114) (340)

Venture investments repaid - (1,146)

Proceeds from disposition of venture investments - (1,114)

Net realized losses on disposition of venture investments (160) -

Net increase in unrealized appreciation of venture investments 3,164 558

Venture investments at fair value, ending $ 13,451 $ 10,125

 
During the year ended August 31, 2017, the Fund made non-cash purchases of Class I Fund venture investments of $nil (2016 - $1,114) 
and received non-cash proceeds of $nil (2016 -$1,114) on disposition of Class I Fund venture investments.

c)   Class R Fund   

2017 2016

Venture investments at fair value, beginning $ 2,750 $ 3,878

Venture investments purchased 150 1,605

Proceeds from disposition of venture investments - (1,427)

Net realized gains on disposition of venture investments - 144

Net increase (decrease) in unrealized appreciation of venture investments 223 (1,450)

Venture investments at fair value, ending $ 3,123 $ 2,750

During the year ended August 31, 2017, the Fund made non-cash purchases of Class R Fund venture investments of $nil (2016 - $713) 
and received non-cash proceeds of $nil (2016 - $713) on disposition of Class R Fund venture investments.
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6. Loss support program contributions and advances
The Fund has a loss support agreement with Western Economic Diversification Canada for investment transactions made in respect of the 
Class I Fund.  The agreement provides loss support at a rate of 50% of funds invested to be used to offset up to 80% of any realized loss in the 
portfolio.  As at August 31, 2017, the Fund has received loss support program contributions and advances of $3,306 (2016 - $3,306).  There 
are unrealized losses of $559 reflected within the Class I Fund venture investments at August 31, 2017 (2016 - $627) such that the amount 
of the loss support program contributions considered repayable to Western Economic Diversification Canada have been reduced by 80% of 
this unrealized loss or $447 (2016 - $502) as per the terms of the program.  Details of the loss support program are contained in the Fund’s 
prospectus.

7. Redeemable shares
The Fund’s redeemable shares are issuable at the applicable Pricing NAV to eligible investors and certain registered retirement savings 
plans, and are subject to restrictions on transfer and redemption in accordance with legislation governing labour sponsored venture capital 
corporations and the Fund’s articles.  Collectively, the shares are voting, entitled to elect a minority of the Directors of the Fund, entitled to 
receive dividends at the discretion of the Board of Directors and may be transferred to certain registered retirement income funds.  Under 
certain circumstances, the shares are redeemable at the Pricing NAV. 

The Fund also has 10 Class B shares outstanding, which were issued to the Fund’s sponsor for a nominal amount.  The Class B shares are non 
participating, voting and entitled to elect a simple majority of the Board of Directors of the Fund.  The shares are redeemable at the option of 
the Fund at the subscription price.  There were no transactions affecting the Fund’s Class B shares during the years ended August 31, 2017 or 
2016.

During the years ended August 31, 2017 and 2016, the number of shares issued, redeemed and outstanding was as follows:

a)   Class A Shares

2017 2016

Class A (SK) shares

 Beginning of year 16,949,802 16,775,014

 Shares issued 1,486,681 1,846,435

 Shares redeemed (1,753,082) (1,671,647)

 End of year 16,683,401 16,949,802

Class A (MB) shares

 Beginning of year 423,049 404,555

 Shares issued 47,766 23,034

 Shares redeemed (47,615) (4,540)

 End of year 423,200 423,049

17,106,601 17,372,851

b)   Class A-F Shares

2017 2016

Class A-F (SK) shares

 Beginning of year 17,913 -

 Shares issued 100,365 17,913

 End of year 118,278 17,913

Class A-F (MB) shares

 Beginning of year 134 -

 Shares issued 4,894 134

 End of year 5,028 134

123,306 18,047
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7. Redeemable shares (continued)

c)   Class I Shares

2017 2016

Class I (SK) shares

 Beginning of year 2,225,520 1,920,685

 Shares issued 405,577 319,139

 Shares redeemed (98,364) (14,304)

 End of year 2,532,733 2,225,520

Class I (MB) shares

 Beginning of year 41,739 34,903

 Shares issued 10,305 6,836

 Shares redeemed (1,051) -

 End of year 50,993 41,739

2,583,726 2,267,259

d)   Class I-F Shares

2017 2016

Class I-F (SK) shares

 Beginning of year 187 -

 Shares issued 8,132 187

 End of year 8,319 187
  

There were no Class I-F (MB) shares issued in the years ended August 31, 2017 or 2016.

e)  Class R Shares

2017 2016

Class R (SK) shares

 Beginning of year 858,747 702,193

 Shares issued 126,729 160,342

 Shares redeemed (4,835) (3,788)

 End of year 980,641 858,747

f)   Class R-F Shares

2017 2016

Class R-F (SK) shares

 Beginning of year 175 -

 Shares issued 745 175

 End of year 920 175
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8. Reconciliation of net asset values
The Fund’s accounting policy is to measure the fair value of publicly traded securities using the last traded market price, provided that 
the last traded price falls within that day’s bid-ask spread.  In circumstances where the last traded price is not within the bid-ask spread, or 
where no sales in a particular security have been transacted on the reporting date, the Manager determines the point within the bid-ask 
spread that is most representative of fair value based on specific facts and circumstances.  

For the determination of the Fund’s Pricing NAV, the value of publicly traded securities is determined on the basis of the previous day’s 
closing price, or, if no sales of a particular security have been transacted on that date, then on the basis of that day’s closing bid price, or, if 
there is no closing bid price, then on the basis of the most recent closing price.  As a result, there may be a difference between the Pricing 
NAV and the net assets attributable to holders of redeemable shares as shown on the statement of financial position.  

There was no difference between the Pricing NAV per share and the net assets attributable to holders of redeemable shares per share 
for the Class R or Class R-F Shares at August 31, 2017 or 2016.  A reconciliation of the net asset values for the Class A, Class A-F, Class I and 
Class I-F Shares at August 31, 2017 and 2016 is as follows:

a)   Class A Shares

2017 2016

Pricing NAV per Class A Share $ 14.22 $ 13.83

Adjustments to closing prices per Class A Share 0.02 -

Net assets attributable to holders of Class A Shares per share $ 14.24 $ 13.83

b)   Class A-F Shares

2017 2016

Pricing NAV per Class A-F Share $ 15.06 $ 14.03

Adjustments to closing prices per Class A-F Share 0.02 -

Net assets attributable to holders of Class A-F Shares per share $ 15.08 $ 14.03

c)   Class I Shares

2017 2016

Pricing NAV per Class I Share $ 11.55 $ 10.87

Adjustments to closing prices per Class I Share 0.02 -

Net assets attributable to holders of Class I Shares per share $ 11.57 $ 10.87

d)   Class I-F Shares

2017 2016

Pricing NAV per Class I-F Share $ 12.47 $ 11.13

Adjustments to closing prices per Class I-F Share 0.02 -

Net assets attributable to holders of Class I-F Shares per share $ 12.49 $ 11.13
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9. Fees and expenses
a) Management fees

In consideration of the performance by the Manager of its duties, the Manager receives an annual management fee equal to 2.5% of 
the aggregate Pricing NAV for each of the Class A Fund, Class I Fund and Class R Fund.  The management fee is calculated and payable 
monthly in arrears based on the Pricing NAVs as at each weekly valuation date.  The Manager does not begin to earn the management 
fee on the F Series shares until the Fund has reached $5,000 in gross F Series subscriptions, at which time the entire amount of the 
management fees would be earned and payable. 

The Manager currently acts as manager of the Fund’s liquid portfolio, which includes cash and short-term investments.  The Fund is 
responsible for any fees and expenses paid to any third party for liquid portfolio management services should the Manager no longer 
provide these services to the Fund.

b) Percentage based payments

The Fund has engaged an arm’s length party (the “Party”) to pay sales commissions on the sale of its shares, excluding the F Series for 
which no sales commissions are payable.  As remuneration for managing the payment of the commissions, the Fund has agreed to pay 
an annual percentage based payment to the Party of 0.95% of the gross proceeds (net of redemptions) raised in any calendar year on the 
sale of Class A Shares, Class I Shares and Class R Shares over eight consecutive years.

c) Trailing commissions

An annual service fee equal to 0.5% of the aggregate Pricing NAV of the Class A Shares, Class I Shares and Class R Shares is paid quarterly 
to selling agents of the Fund.  No trailing commissions are paid in respect of the F Series.

d) Administration fees

Pursuant to a transfer agency agreement, the Fund has retained Prometa Fund Support Services Inc. to provide certain services to the 
Fund, including processing of sales orders and maintaining shareholder records.  The Fund has retained Concentra Trust as the Fund’s 
Custodian and Bare Trustee. 

e) Marketing service fees

As remuneration for distribution services being provided by the principal distributor of the Fund (the “Agent”), the Fund has agreed to pay 
the Agent an aggregate annual marketing service fee of 1.25% on the first $10,000 of gross proceeds, 1.00% on the next $10,000 of gross 
proceeds, and 0.75% of any additional gross proceeds. The Agent does not begin to earn the marketing service fee on the F Series shares 
until the Fund has reached $5,000 in gross F Series subscriptions, at which time the entire amount of the marketing service fees would 
be earned and payable.  For the year ended August 31, 2017, marketing service fees of $12 (2016 - $2) were unearned on the Class A-F 
Shares.  For the Class I-F Shares, marketing service fees of $1 (2016 - $nil) were unearned in the year ended August 31, 2017.  Unearned 
marketing service fees on the Class R-F Shares for the years ended August 31, 2017 and 2016 were not significant.

f) Incentive participation amount

The Manager is entitled to an incentive participation amount (“IPA”) equal to 20% of any return derived from an eligible investment of the 
Fund (excluding the first 10% of interest and dividend income earned and any commitment or work fees paid to the Fund in connection 
with the investment) in any fiscal year provided that:  (i) the Class A Fund, Class I Fund or Class R Fund, as applicable, has earned sufficient 
income to generate a rate of return on all venture investments which is greater than the five year average guaranteed investment certificate 
rate of Concentra Financial plus 1.5% on an annualized basis; (ii) has earned sufficient income from the particular investment to provide 
a cumulative investment return at an average annual rate in excess of 10% since investment; and, (iii) has recouped an amount from the 
venture investment, through income earned, liquidation of the investment, or otherwise, equal to all the principal invested in the particular 
venture investment.

During the year ended August 31, 2017, an IPA in respect of the Class A Fund was paid or payable to the Manager in the amount of $190 
(2016 - $1,404) on realized gains on the disposition of venture investments. The IPA was 0.08% (2016 – 0.55%) expressed as a percentage of 
average net asset value for the Class A Fund for the year.  During the year ended August 31, 2017, an IPA in respect of the Class I Fund was 
paid or payable to the Manager in the amount of $3 (2016 - $91) on realized gains on the disposition of venture investments. The IPA was 
0.01% (2016 - 0.40%) expressed as a percentage of average net asset value for the Class I Fund for the year.  During the year ended August 31, 
2016, an IPA in respect of the Class R Fund was paid or payable to the Manager in the amount of $87 on realized gains on the disposition of 
venture investments. The IPA was 1.17% expressed as a percentage of average net asset value for the Class R Fund for the year.  There was no 
IPA paid or payable in respect of the Class R Fund during the year ended August 31, 2017.     
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9. Fees and expenses (continued)

f)   Incentive participation amount (continued)

An estimated contingent IPA in respect of the Class A Fund of $20,417 (2016 - $18,587) has been reflected in the financial statements in 
respect of unrealized gains and excess returns as at August 31, 2017.  The increase in the estimated contingent IPA of $1,830 during the 
year ended August 31, 2017 (2016 – decrease of $3,111) represents a decrease of 0.73% (2016 – increase of 1.21%) in average pricing NAV 
of the Class A Fund for the year.

As at August 31, 2017, an estimated contingent IPA in respect of the Class I Fund of $1,423 (2016 – $746) has been reflected in the financial 
statements in respect of unrealized gains and excess returns.  The increase in the estimated contingent IPA of $677 during the year ended 
August 31, 2017 (2016 - $139) represents a decrease of 2.45% (2016 – 0.61%) in average pricing NAV of the Class I Fund for the year.

No contingent IPA is accrued for the Class R Fund at August 31, 2017 or 2016.  The decrease in the Class R Fund contingent IPA of $259 
during the year ended August 31, 2016 represented an increase of 3.49% in average pricing NAV of the Class R Fund for the year.

g)   Direct expenses

The Fund pays all direct costs and expenses incurred in the operation of the Fund, such as directors’ fees, custodian fees, insurance, 
legal, audit, and valuation expenses.

h)   Management expense ratio

The management expense ratio (“MER”) includes the IPA, contingent IPA and all other fees and expenses paid or payable (excluding any 
brokerage fees on the purchase and sale of portfolio securities) expressed as a percentage of average Pricing NAV.  For the years ended 
August 31, 2017 and 2016, the MER for each share, along with the impact of excluding the IPA and contingent IPA, is as follows:

2017 2016

Class A Shares  

 MER  5.53% 4.06% 
 MER – excluding IPA and contingent IPA  4.71% 4.73%

Class A-F Shares  

 MER  (0.44)% (0.72)%  
 MER – excluding IPA and contingent IPA  0.74% 0.88%

Class I Shares  

 MER  7.26% 5.71% 
 MER – excluding IPA and contingent IPA  4.80% 4.70%

Class I-F Shares  

 MER  1.86% 2.96% 
 MER – excluding IPA and contingent IPA  0.73% 1.29%

Class R Shares  

 MER  5.24% 2.78% 
 MER – excluding IPA and contingent IPA  5.24% 5.11%

Class R-F Shares  

 MER  0.79% (0.40)% 
 MER – excluding IPA and contingent IPA  0.79% 1.21%
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10. Net change in non-cash balances

2017 2016

a)   Class A Fund     

Decrease (increase) in interest and other receivables $ 47 $ (973) 
Increase (decrease)  in accounts payable and accrued liabilities  72  (56) 
(Decrease) increase in IPA payable  (336)  336 
Increase (decrease) in contingent IPA  1,830  (3,111)

   $ 1,613 $ (3,804)

2017 2016

b)   Class I Fund     

Decrease in interest and other receivables $ 71 $ 104 
Increase in accounts payable and accrued liabilities  35  43 
Increase (decrease) in loss support program contributions and advances  55  (252) 
(Decrease) increase in IPA payable  (91)  91 
Increase in contingent IPA  677  139

   $ 747 $ 125

2017 2016

c)   Class R Fund

Decrease (increase) in interest and other receivables $ 4 $ (9) 
Increase in accounts payable and accrued liabilities  10  16 
Decrease in contingent IPA  -  (259)

   $ 14 $ (252)

11. Financial instruments by category
The following tables present the carrying amounts of the Fund’s financial assets by category as at August 31, 2017 and 2016.  All of the 
Fund’s financial liabilities, other than its net assets attributable to holders of redeemable shares, were carried at amortized cost as at the end 
of each respective period.

a)   Class A Fund

Category 2017 2016

Cash FVTPL $ 15,577 $ 27,075

Short-term investments FVTPL 15,236 16,400

Subscriptions receivable Amortized cost - 22

Interest and other receivables Amortized cost 3,663 3,710

Venture investments FVTPL 233,836 214,698

$ 268,312 $ 261,905
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11. Financial instruments by category (continued)

b) Class I Fund

Category 2017 2016

Cash FVTPL $  2,100 $  1,913

Short-term investments FVTPL 18,861 16,259

Subscriptions receivable Amortized cost - 10

Interest and other receivables Amortized cost 172 243

Venture investments FVTPL 13,451 10,125

$  34,584 $  28,550

c) Class R Fund

Category 2017 2016

Cash FVTPL $ 897 $  1,152

Short-term investments FVTPL 4,396 3,580

Subscriptions receivable Amortized cost - 15

Interest and other receivables Amortized cost 9 13

Venture investments FVTPL 3,123 2,750

$ 8,425 $ 7,510

12. Fair value of financial instruments
a)   Fair value hierarchy

The Fund classifies fair value measurements within a hierarchy which gives the highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active 
markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1) and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3).  The three levels of the fair 
value hierarchy are:

Level 1   Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the measurement 
date.

Level 2  Inputs other than quoted market prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or 
indirectly; and

Level 3 Inputs are unobservable for the asset or liability.

If inputs of different levels are used to measure an asset’s or liability’s fair value, the classification within the hierarchy is based on the 
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement.  

The Manager is responsible for performing fair value measurements included in the financial statements of the Fund, including Level 3 
measurements.  The Manager performs semi-annual valuations as at the last day of February and the last day of August in each year on 
the basis of policies and procedures established by the Fund’s Board of Directors.  For investments for which no public market exists, the 
valuations are performed based on the Canadian Venture Capital and Private Equity Association valuation guidelines.  The semi-annual 
valuations are approved by the Investment Committee of the Board of Directors, and the valuation prepared as at the end of August in 
each year is also presented to the Board of Directors for approval.  

The Fund’s venture investments are classified as Level 1 when the security is actively traded and a reliable price is observable.  The 
determination of the fair value of venture investments that are not traded in an active market typically requires the use of significant 
unobservable inputs and, as a result, these investments are classified as Level 3.  
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12. Fair value of financial instruments (continued)
a)   Fair value hierarchy (continued)

The following tables illustrate the classification of the Fund’s assets and liabilities measured at fair value within the fair value hierarchy as at 
August 31, 2017 and 2016:

i.   Class A Fund 
 

2017

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Short-term investments  $  - $  15,236 $  - $ 15,236

Venture investments   33,892 - 199,944 233,836

 $ 33,892 $  15,236 $ 199,944 $ 249,072

2016

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Short-term investments $  - $  16,400 $ - $ 16,400

Venture investments 777 - 213,921 214,698

$ 777 $ 16,400 $ 213,921 $ 231,098

ii.   Class I Fund

2017

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Short-term investments $ - $ 18,861 $ - $ 18,861

Venture investments 4,662 - 8,789 13,451

$ 4,662 $ 18,861 $  8,789 $ 32,312

2016

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Short-term investments $ - $ 16,259 $ - $ 16,259

Venture investments 52 - 10,073 10,125

$  52 $ 16,259 $ 10,073 $ 26,384
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12. Fair value of financial instruments (continued)
a)   Fair value hierarchy (continued)

iii.   Class R Fund

2017

Level 2 Level 3 Total

Short-term investments $ 4,396 $ - $ 4,396

Venture investments - 3,123 3,123

$ 4,396 $ 3,123 $ 7,519

2016

Level 2 Level 3 Total

Short-term investments $ 3,580 $ - $ 3,580

Venture investments - 2,750 2,750

$ 3,580 $ 2,750 $ 6,330

All fair value measurements above are recurring.  The carrying values of subscriptions receivable, interest and other receivables, accounts 
payable and accrued liabilities, redemptions payable, loss support program contributions and advances, IPA, contingent IPA, and the 
Fund’s obligation for net assets attributable to holders of redeemable shares are short-term in nature.

b)  Changes in Level 3 instruments

The following tables present the movement in Level 3 instruments for the years ended August 31, 2017 and 2016:

i.   Class A Fund

2017 2016

Beginning balance $ 213,921 $ 241,286

Purchases 11,822 18,158

Partnership income recognized 6,529 9,820

Partnership distributions received (7,853) (11,762)

Repayments (3,678) (4,899)

Dispositions (100) (11,113)

Transferred to Level 1 (15,728) -

Net realized losses (3,429) (7,835)

Net unrealized losses (1,540) (19,734)

Ending balance $  199,944 $  213,921

Net unrealized losses during the year included in the Statements of  
   Comprehensive Income  for Level 3 assets held at end of year $ (4,990) $ (17,956)

During the year ended August 31, 2017, Class A Fund investments of $15,728 (2016 - $nil) were transferred from Level 3 to Level 1 as a 

result of an investee company completing an initial public offering during the period.
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12. Fair value of financial instruments (continued)
b)   Changes in Level 3 instruments (continued)

ii.   Class I Fund

2017 2016

Beginning balance $ 10,073 $ 8,477

Purchases 80 3,226

Partnership income recognized 356 364

Partnership distributions received (114) (340)

Repayments - (1,146)

Dispositions - (1,114)

Transferred to Level 1 (2,134) -

Net realized losses (160) -

Net unrealized gains 688 606

Ending balance $ 8,789 $ 10,073

Net unrealized gains during the year included in the Statements of  
   Comprehensive Income  for Level 3 assets held at end of year $ 528 $ 606

During the year ended August 31, 2017, Class I Fund investments of $2,134 (2016 - $nil) were transferred from Level 3 to Level 1 as a 

result of an investee company completing an initial public offering during the period.

iii.   Class R Fund

2017 2016

Beginning balance $ 2,750 $ 3,878

Purchases 150 892

Dispositions - (714)

Net realized gains - 144

Net unrealized gains (losses) 223 (1,450)

Ending balance $  3,123 $ 2,750

Net unrealized gains (losses) during the year included in the  
   Statements of Comprehensive Income  for Level 3 assets held  
   at end of year $  223 $ (477)

There were no Class R Fund financial instruments that were transferred into or out of Level 1 or 2 during the years ended August 31, 

2017 or 2016.
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12. Fair value of financial instruments (continued)
c)  Level 3 measurements

The following tables present the fair value, categorized by key valuation techniques and the unobservable inputs used within Level 3 as of 
August 31, 2017 and 2016.

The sensitivity analysis set out below is intended to reflect the uncertainty inherent in the valuation of these investments under current market 
conditions, and its results cannot be extrapolated due to non-linear effects that changes in valuation assumptions may have on the fair value 
of these investments.  While this illustrates the overall effect of changing the values of the unobservable inputs by a set percentage, the 
significance of the impact and the range of reasonably possible alternative assumptions may differ significantly between investments, given 
their different terms and circumstances.  Furthermore, the analysis does not indicate a probability of such changes occurring and it does not 
necessarily represent the Fund’s view of expected future changes in the fair value of these investments.  Any management actions that may be 
taken to mitigate the inherent risks are not reflected in this analysis.

i.   Class A Fund
2017

Valuation technique Fair value Unobservable inputs Range of 
inputs

Sensitivity of 
input value

Impact on fair value 
+/-

Enterprise multiple $ 110,617 EBITDA Multiple 3.94x–5.50x 0.50x $11,927/$(11,555) 

Discounted cash flow 36,290 Discount rate 11%-50% 1.5% 3,265/(2,586)

NAV/unit 24,808 % variance 100% 10% 2,481/(2,481)

Value of recoverable reserves 14,683 % variance 100% 5% 4,954/(3,865)

Recent financing 9,466 Transaction price 100% 10% 947/(947)

Tangible book value 4,080 % variance 100% 10% 408/(408)

$ 199,944

2016

Valuation technique Fair value Unobservable inputs Range of 
inputs

Sensitivity of 
input value

Impact on fair value 
+/-

Enterprise multiple $ 105,416 EBITDA Multiple 4.35x–5.50x 0.50x $11,905/$(11,761) 

Discounted cash flow 32,761 Discount rate 10%-60% 1.5% 2,463/(1,983)

NAV/unit 24,875 % variance 100% 10% 2,488/(2,488)

Value of recoverable reserves 10,819 % variance 100% 5% 12,099/(3,006)

Recent financing 33,267 Transaction price 100% 10% 3,327/(3,327)

Tangible book value 6,783 % variance 100% 10% 678/(678)

$ 213,921

ii.   Class I Fund

2017

Valuation technique Fair value Unobservable inputs Range of 
inputs

Sensitivity of 
input value

Impact on fair value 
+/-

Enterprise multiple $ 4,294 EBITDA multiple 5.00x-5.09x 0.50x $302/$(302)

Discounted cash flow 3,714 Discount rate 11.4%-16% 1.5% 112/(109) 

Recent financing 781 Transaction price 100% 10% 78/(78)

$ 8,789
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12. Fair value of financial instruments (continued)
c)  Level 3 measurements (continued) 

ii.   Class I Fund (continued)

2016

Valuation technique Fair value Unobservable inputs Range of 
inputs

Sensitivity of 
input value

Impact on fair value 
+/-

Enterprise multiple $ 3,639 EBITDA multiple 4.36x-5.00x 0.50x $306/$(306)

Discounted cash flow 4,119 Discount rate 10%-16% 1.5% 265/(164) 

Recent financing 2,310 Transaction price 100% 10% 231/(231)

Estimated recoverable value 5 % variance 100% 10% 1/(1)

$ 10,073

iii.   Class R  Fund

2017

Valuation technique Fair value Unobservable inputs Range of 
inputs

Sensitivity of 
input value

Impact on fair value 
+/-

Value of recoverable reserves $ 1,881 % variance 100% 10% $393/$(296)

NAV/unit 1,242 % variance 100% 10% 124/(124) 

$ 3,123

2016

Valuation technique Fair value Unobservable inputs Range of 
inputs

Sensitivity of 
input value

Impact on fair value 
+/-

Value of recoverable reserves $ 526 % variance 100% 5% $591/$(147)

NAV/unit 1,256 % variance 100% 10% 126/(126) 

Recent financing 968 Transaction price 100% 10% 97/(97)

$ 2,750

13. Risks associated with financial instruments
The Fund’s activities expose it to a variety of risks associated with financial instruments, including credit risk, liquidity risk and market 
risk (including price risk and interest rate risk).  The Fund has no exposure to currency risk as all financial instruments of the Fund are 
denominated in Canadian currency.  The objective of the Fund is to manage these risks while maintaining a risk/return balance that 
is consistent with the Fund’s investment objectives.  The Manager seeks to mitigate these risks by monitoring the Fund’s investment 
holdings and by diversifying the investment portfolio within the constraints of governing legislation.  There is a risk of loss of capital for all 
investments made by the Fund.

a)   Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other party by failing to discharge an 
obligation.  Concentration of credit risk relates to groups of counterparties that have similar economic or industry characteristics that 
cause their ability to meet contractual obligations to be similarly affected by changes in economic or other conditions.  The majority of the 
credit risk to which the Fund is exposed arises from its short-term investments, venture investments in debt securities, and accrued interest 
receivable.  For each of the Class A Fund, Class I Fund, and Class R Fund the maximum exposure to credit risk is the cost of debt venture 
investments and the carrying amount of short-term investments and accrued interest receivable.  

The Fund analyzes credit concentration based on the counterparty, industry and geographic location.  To mitigate counterparty risk in 
regards to its debt venture investments, the Fund has, where possible, secured its debt investments with first or subordinated charges 
of the assets of the investee company and imposed certain financial covenants on the investee companies.  The Fund seeks to mitigate 
risks associated with a particular industry by investing its venture investment portfolios in a diverse range of industries.  The Fund seeks to 
mitigate credit risk in its short-term investment portfolios by investing in instruments with a minimum Dominion Bond rating of A or in 
instruments that are guaranteed by the Credit Union Deposit Guarantee Corporation.
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13. Risks associated with financial instruments (continued) 
a)  Credit risk (continued)

For the Class A Fund, the maximum credit risk exposure as at August 31, 2017 is $66,566 (2016 - $75,700).  The diversification of the Class 
A Fund venture investments by industry sector is outlined in the Schedule of Investment Portfolio.  Although the Class A Fund’s venture 
investment portfolio consists primarily of Saskatchewan and Manitoba companies, the markets for those companies are worldwide.  To 
mitigate the geographic risk, the Class A Fund has been invested in companies with a diverse range of end markets.  

The maximum credit risk exposure for the Class I Fund as at August 31, 2017 is $20,462 (2016 - $18,838).  The Class I Fund’s venture 
investment portfolio includes investments in four debt instruments at August 31, 2017 (2016 – five).  The credit risk on these investments is 
mitigated by the Western Economic Diversification Canada loss support program outlined in Note 6.  

For the Class R Fund, the maximum credit risk exposure as at August 31, 2017 is $5,909 (2016 - $5,097).  At August 31, 2017, the Class R 
Fund’s venture investment portfolio includes investments in three debt instruments (2016 – three).  

b)   Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Fund will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial liabilities.  The Fund is 
exposed to weekly cash redemptions of its shares and has instituted a liquid reserve policy for each of the Class A Fund, Class I Fund 
and Class R Fund for the purpose of managing its liquidity risk and to ensure the Fund maintains available reserves to meet its financial 
obligations or potential obligations.  Under the liquid reserve policy, each of the Class A Fund, Class I Fund and Class R Fund will maintain 
reserves equal to the lesser of 20% of retained earnings or 50% of net earnings after taxes for the previous fiscal year.  In addition, an 
amount equal to 25% of all guarantees issued will be maintained on reserve.  At August 31, 2017, there are no guarantees issued.

The Fund invests in debt securities and equity investments that are not traded in an active market.  As a result, the Fund may not be able 
to quickly liquidate its investments in these instruments at amounts which approximate their fair values, or be able to respond to specific 
events such as deterioration in the creditworthiness of any particular issuer.

The financial liabilities of the Fund mature in less than three months with the exception of the contingent IPA.  The contingent IPA is 
an estimate, based on unrealized gains and excess returns, that would have been payable had the Fund disposed of its entire venture 
investment portfolio at fair value at August 31, 2017.  The maturity of the contingent IPA is uncertain and is only payable to the Manager if 
specific criteria are met, as outlined in Note 9(f ).  

Although the redeemable shares are redeemable on demand at the holder’s option, holders of the Fund’s shares typically retain them for an 
extended period.  Furthermore, subject to certain restrictions, the Fund is not obligated to redeem its shares under certain circumstances 
as outlined in the Fund’s prospectus.  Based on the redemption history of the Fund, the Manager expects that the redeemable shares 
outstanding at August 31, 2017 will be redeemed over a period of several years.

c)   Market risk

The Fund’s investments are subject to market risk which is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate because of changes in market prices.  

 i.   Interest rate risk

  Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market 
interest rates.  The Fund holds securities with fixed interest rates that expose the Fund to fair value interest rate risk.  The Fund attempts 
to mitigate this risk by investing all cash and short-term investments at short-term market interest rates.  The Fund also holds debt 
venture investments subject to variable interest rates, which exposes the Fund to cash flow interest rate risk.  The Fund mitigates this 
risk by maintaining fixed interest rates on a portion of its debt venture investments.  Based on cost, at August 31, 2017, 26.09% (2016 
– 39.50%) of the Class A Fund debt venture investments and 100% (2016 - 100%) of the Class I Fund debt venture investments bear 
interest at fixed rates.  All of the Class R Fund debt venture investments bear interest at variable rates.

   ii.  Price risk

  The Fund is exposed to price risk, which is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because 
of changes in market prices (other than those arising from interest rate risk or currency risk).  The Fund is exposed to fluctuations in the 
value of its equity venture investments due to such risks as commodity prices or changes to the public markets.  

  The venture investment portfolio of the Class A Fund is exposed to commodity prices such as oil and gas, ethanol, and agricultural 
commodities, however the Fund seeks to mitigate this risk by investing in a diverse range of industries.  As at August 31, 2017, the Class 
A Fund was invested in 11 different industry sectors (2016 – 11).  Although the Fund invests primarily in private companies, the Fund 
has acquired publicly traded companies through the exit of private companies and, as a result, is exposed to fluctuations in the public 
market.  Based on fair value, as at August 31, 2017, publicly traded companies make up 14.49% (2016 – 0.36%) of the Class A Fund 
venture investment portfolio.  As at August 31, 2017, a 10% change in the value of the publicly traded securities will cause a change 
of $0.20 per share (2016 – less than $0.01) or a 1.38% (2016 – less than 0.01%) change in the Pricing NAV of the Class A Shares.  A 10% 
change in the value of publicly traded securities at August 31, 2017 will cause a change of $0.22 per share (2016 – less than $0.01) or a 
1.47% (2016 – less than 0.01%) change in the Pricing NAV of the Class A-F shares. 
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13. Risks associated with financial instruments (continued)

c)   Market risk (continued)

   ii.  Price risk (continued)

  The Fund invests the share capital raised from the issue of Class I Shares and Class I-F Shares in companies in the innovation sector of 
the Saskatchewan and Manitoba economies.  Although not as diversified as the Class A Fund investments, the Fund has entered into 
a loss support program with Western Economic Diversification Canada aimed at supporting certain losses in investments made with 
funds raised through the issue of Class I Shares and Class I-F Shares.  Details of the loss support program are contained in the Fund’s 
prospectus.  As at August 31, 2017, the Class I Fund was invested in 11 (2016 – 11) private companies and two public companies (2016 
– two) in six (2016 – five) different industry sectors.  Based on fair value, as at August 31, 2017, the publicly traded companies make up 
34.66% (2016 – 0.50%) of the Class I Fund venture investment portfolio.  As at August 31, 2017, a 10% change in the value of the publicly 
traded securities will cause a change of $0.18 per share (2016 – less than $0.01) or a 1.56% (2016 – less than 0.01%) change in the Pricing 
NAV of the Class I Shares.  A 10% change in the value of publicly traded securities at August 31, 2017 will cause a change of $0.21 per 
share (2016 – less than $0.01) or a 1.68% (2016 – less than 0.01%) change in the Pricing NAV of the Class I-F shares. 

  The Fund invests the share capital raised from the issue of Class R Shares and Class R-F Shares in companies in the resource sector of 
the Saskatchewan economy.  As at August 31, 2017, the Class R Fund was invested in seven (2016 – seven) private companies in the 
resource sector.

d)   Concentration risk

Concentration risk arises as a result of the concentration of exposures within the same category, whether it is geographic location, 
product type, industry sector or counterparty type.  A summary of the venture portfolio concentration by industry sector and stage of 
development is provided in the Schedule of Investment Portfolio for each of the Class A Fund, Class I Fund and Class R Fund.  The Class R 
Fund is a resource focused portfolio with a strategy to invest in companies in the energy, mining and/or related resource sectors of the 
Saskatchewan economy.  Accordingly, all of the Class R Fund venture investments are in the oil & gas sector as at August 31, 2017 and 
2016.

e)   Capital risk management

Redeemable shares issued and outstanding are considered to be the capital of the Fund.  The Manager manages the capital of the Fund in 
accordance with the Fund’s investment objectives, policies, and restrictions as outlined in the Fund’s prospectus, while attempting to maintain 
sufficient liquidity to meet shareholder redemptions, operational requirements, and future venture investments.  

The Fund is subject to the investment pacing requirements under the provisions of the Saskatchewan Act and the Manitoba Act.  Pursuant to 
the Saskatchewan Act, the Fund is obligated, during the 24-month period following the end of the fiscal year in which the Saskatchewan share 
capital is raised, to invest and maintain at least 75% of the equity capital raised in Saskatchewan in investment instruments issued by eligible 
businesses or in any other type of investment authorized by the Saskatchewan Act.  Pursuant to the Manitoba Act, the Fund is obligated, 
during the 24-month period following the end of the fiscal year in which the Manitoba share capital is raised, to invest at least 70% of the 
equity capital raised in Manitoba in eligible investments issued by eligible business entities or in any other type of investment authorized by 
the Manitoba Act, and 14% of the Manitoba share capital so invested must be in eligible investments for which the total cost of the eligible 
investments held by the Fund in such entity and any related entities does not exceed $2,000.  

Under the Saskatchewan Act, an amount equal to 20% of the capital raised in Saskatchewan must be set aside in a trust fund until such time 
as the Fund has met the investment requirements as set forth in the Saskatchewan Act.  At August 31, 2017, Class A Fund cash and short-
term investments of $7,225 (2016 - $3,982) are held within the trust fund. At August 31, 2017, Class I Fund cash and short-term investments of 
$1,583 (2016 - $673) are held within the trust fund. At August 31, 2017, Class R Fund cash and short-term investments of $811 (2016 - $595) are 
held within the trust fund. Pending release, the trust monies will be invested in investments permitted by the Saskatchewan Act.  As at August 
31, 2017, the Fund was in compliance with the investment pacing requirements under both the Saskatchewan Act and the Manitoba Act.

The regulations to the Saskatchewan Act require labour-sponsored venture capital corporations to invest a prescribed percentage of its annual 
net capital (being annual capital raised less annual capital required to satisfy redemption obligations) in eligible innovation activities.  Eligible 
innovation activities include: (i) activities carried out by an eligible business whose principal business is directly related to one or more of the 
following sectors: clean or environmental technology, health and life sciences, crop and animal sciences, industrial biotechnology, information 
and communication technology; or (ii) activities carried out by an eligible business that involves technical risk, productivity improvement 
or the application of a technology, process or innovation that is new to Saskatchewan and facilitates growth, supports trade or exports or 
enhances Saskatchewan’s competitiveness.  The prescribed amount is 15% in 2015-2016 and 18.75% in 2016-2017 and thereafter.

14. Taxation
All share classes of the Fund are combined as a single legal entity in computing the net income (loss) and net capital gains (losses) for tax 
purposes.  Income taxes, if any, are allocated to the Class A Fund, Class I Fund and Class R Fund on a fair and reasonable basis.

Under the Federal Act, no taxes are generally payable by the Fund on dividends received from Canadian corporations, and income taxes 
payable on capital gains are substantially refundable on a formula basis when shares of the Fund are redeemed or capital gains dividends 
are paid, or deemed to be paid, by the Fund to its shareholders.  A portion of the income taxes payable on net interest income earned by 
the Fund is also refundable on payment, or deemed payment, of taxable dividends to the shareholders.
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14. Taxation (continued)
The Fund is able to minimize income taxes through the deemed payment of a dividend by capitalizing an amount of its taxable income as 
paid up capital on its Class A, Class A-F, Class I, Class I-F, Class R or Class R-F Shares, or a combination of thereof.  If, and to the extent that, the 
Fund increases the paid up capital of a class of shares, the holder of the shares will be deemed to have received a dividend and the adjusted 
cost base of the holder’s shares will be increased by the amount of the  deemed dividend.  

Temporary differences between the tax basis of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts may be either taxable or deductible.  Taxable 
temporary differences give rise to future income tax liabilities and deductible temporary differences give rise to future income tax assets.  
When the fair value of investments is greater than its tax basis, a future income tax liability arises and the future tax liability is offset by 
refundable taxes generated by future payments of capital gains dividends.  When the fair value of investments is less than its tax basis, a future 
income tax asset arises and, due to the uncertainty of such future income tax assets ultimately being realized, a full valuation allowance is 
applied to offset the asset.  Any unused capital and non-capital losses represent future income tax assets to the Fund for which a full valuation 
allowance has been established such that no net benefit has been recorded by the Fund.

As at August 31, 2017, the Fund has estimated non-capital losses available for carryforward of $12,429 (2016 - $4,326), and estimated capital 
losses available for carryforward of $18,227 (2016 - $12,202).

15. Related party transactions 
During the year ended August 31, 2017, management fees, including GST, on Class A Shares of $6,522 (2016 - $6,760) were paid or payable to 
the Manager, a company controlled by the President & Chief Executive Officer of the Fund, and the Manager earned an IPA on the Class A Fund 
of $190 (2016 - $1,404).  At August 31, 2017 a contingent IPA is accrued on the Class A Fund in the amount of $20,417 (2016 - $18,587).  

For the Class I Fund, management fees of $722 were paid or payable during the year ended August 31, 2017 (2016 - $598), and the Manager 
earned an IPA on the Class I Fund of $3 (2016 - $91).  As at August 31, 2017, a contingent IPA is accrued on the Class I Fund in the amount of 
$1,423 (2016 - $746).     

Management fees of $209 were paid or payable for the Class R Fund during the year ended August 31, 2017 (2016 – $197), and the Manager 
earned an IPA on the Class R Fund of $nil (2016 - $87).  No contingent IPA is accrued for the Class R Fund at August 31, 2017 or 2016. 

The Manager does not begin to earn the management fee with respect to the F Series until the Fund has reached $5,000 in gross subscriptions 
for F Series shares.  As a result, Class A-F Share management fees of $30 (2016 - $3) were unearned in the year ended August 31, 2017.  For the 
Class I-F Shares, management fees of $2 (2016 – not significant) were unearned in the year ended August 31, 2017.  Unearned management 
fees on the Class R-F Shares were not significant for the years ended August 31, 2017 and 2016. 

In respect of the Class A Fund, office costs totaling $9 (2016 - $9) were paid or payable to the Manager in the year ended August 31, 2017.  For 
the year ended August 31, 2017, office costs totaling $1 (2016 - $1) were paid or payable to the Manager in respect of the Class I Fund.  There 
were no office or other costs paid or payable to the Manager by the Class I Fund or Class R Fund in the year ended August 31, 2017 or 2016.    

At August 31, 2017, the accounts payable and accrued liabilities balance for the Class A Fund includes management fees payable to the 
Manager of $546 (2016 - $541) and office and other costs payable to the Manager of $1 (2016 - $1).  At August 31, 2017, the accounts payable 
and accrued liabilities balance for Class I Fund includes management fees payable to the Manager of $64 (2016 - $54).  Management fees 
payable to the Manager of $19 (2016 - $16) are included in the accounts payable and accrued liabilities balance for the Class R Fund at August 
31, 2017.  

The above-mentioned transactions were in the normal course of operations, are non-interest bearing, and are measured at the exchange 
amount, which is the amount of consideration established and agreed to by the related parties.

16. Commitments
At August 31, 2017, the Class A Fund has commitments for additional investments of $2,739 in Credence Resources II LP, and $631 in Burgess 
Creek Exploration Inc.  At August 31, 2017, the Class R Fund has commitments for additional investments of $61 in Credence Resources II LP, 
and $340 in Burgess Creek Exploration Inc.

17. Net assets of the Fund 
The Fund’s auditors, Ernst & Young LLP, reviewed the aggregate fair value of the Fund’s investment portfolio, calculated in accordance with 
the Fund’s internal valuation policies and with the principles outlined in the Fund’s prospectus.  The auditors employ a Chartered Business 
Valuator as a member of their audit team.  Based on the scope of the review, Ernst & Young LLP provided an opinion to the Audit and Valuation 
Committees of the Fund as to the reasonableness of the aggregate fair value as at August 31, 2017.
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Auditors 
Ernst & Young LLP 

suite 1200, 410 - 22nd st. East, saskatoon, sK   s7K 5t6 

CorporAtE CounsEl 
MLT Aikins LLP 

suite 1500, 410 - 22nd st. East, saskatoon, sK   s7K 5t6

CustodiAn 
Concentra Trust 

333, 3rd Avenue north, saskatoon, sK   s7K 2M2 

AgEnt And prinCipAl distributor 

National Bank Financial Inc. 
suite 1360, 410 - 22nd st. East, saskatoon, sK   s7K 5t6 

trAnsfEr AgEnt 
Prometa Fund Support Services Inc. 
220 - 155 Carlton street, Winnipeg Mb  r3C 3H8 

proud sponsor 
Construction and General Workers’ Union, 
Local 180 

1866 McAra street, regina, sK   s4n 6C4

Fund Manager: 

 

suite 830, 410 - 22nd st. East, saskatoon, sK   s7K 5t6

fund Codes gof501 (Class A sK), gof502 (Class A Mb), gof503 (Class i sK), gof504 (Class i Mb), gof505 (Class r sK), 

gof507 (Class A-f sK), gof508 (Class A-f Mb), gof509 (Class i-f sK), gof510 (Class i-f Mb), gof511 (Class r-f sK)

Board of Directors

Honourable William McKnight2,4 
Chairman 
Chairman, McKnight & Associates

Brian L. Barber1,3 
Vice Chairman 
senior Vice-president, saskatchewan, ledcor 

Construction limited

Donald R. Ching3 
director 
retired businessman (formerly president and Chief 

Executive officer, ArEVA resources Canada inc.)

Lorraine Sali4 
director 
business Manager for the sponsor, Construction and 

general Workers’ union, local 180

Thomas A. Shepherd1,3 
director 
retired businessman (formerly senior Vice-president, 

dundee realty Corporation)

James S. Salamon1 
director 
Managing partner, srg Chartered professional Accountants

Ronald S. Waldman2 
director 
president /Chief Executive officer, Keystone Consulting inc.

Grant J. Kook2,4 
president/Chief Executive officer/director 
president and Chief Executive officer, Westcap Mgt. ltd.

Douglas W. Banzet1 
Chief financial officer/director 
Chief operating officer, Westcap Mgt. ltd.

golden opportunities’ governance

1 Audit Committee 
2 Valuation Committee 
3 investment Committee 
4 governance and nominations Committee
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